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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 

 
BROADCOM CORPORATION,  
 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
QUALCOMM INCORPORATED, 

 
Defendant. 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
Civil Action No. 05-3350 (MLC) 
 
 
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
 

 
Plaintiff Broadcom Corporation (“Broadcom”), through its undersigned attorneys, by and 

for its Second Amended Complaint, upon personal knowledge as to its own acts, and on 

information and belief as to all others based upon its own and its attorneys’ investigation, alleges 

as follows: 
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THE PARTIES 

1. Broadcom is a California corporation with its principal place of business in Irvine, 

California.  Broadcom also operates a significant facility in Matawan, New Jersey, which is an 

important part of the Broadcom business at issue in this lawsuit.  Defendant Qualcomm 

Incorporated (“Qualcomm”) is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in San 

Diego, California.  Qualcomm also transacts and is registered to do business in and is found 

within New Jersey, where Qualcomm has appointed an agent for service of process.   

2. Broadcom is a supplier of semiconductors for wired and wireless broadband 

communications.  Broadcom’s products provide innovative solutions in a variety of areas, 

including digital cable, satellite and Internet set-top boxes, high-definition televisions, digital 

subscriber line modems, home and wireless networking, and cellular and terrestrial wireless 

communications.  Broadcom has an extensive history of innovation in the area of semiconductors 

used for broadband communications.   

3. Qualcomm has offices around the United States and the world, and operates several 

business units.  Among others, Qualcomm licenses its intellectual property rights through a 

business unit called the “Technology Licensing Segment,” or “QTL.”  Qualcomm sells chipsets 

through a business unit called the CDMA Technologies Segment, or “QCT.”  Qualcomm’s QCT 

and QTL units are and have been extremely profitable.  For example, in March 2005, Qualcomm 

reported that: QCT had more than $3.1 billion in chipset sales in fiscal year 2004, with a 34% 

margin; and that QTL had more than $1.3 billion in sales with a 90% margin. 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

4. Qualcomm has systematically undermined competition in markets for technology and 

integrated circuit chips used in mobile wireless devices and sought to undermine competition 

more broadly through its willful manipulation of various standard-setting processes.  In doing so, 
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Qualcomm has violated federal antitrust and California’s unfair competition laws, breached 

contracts and commitments, engaged in fraud, and tortiously interfered with Broadcom’s 

prospective commercial advantage.  Qualcomm has injured competition and Broadcom, and 

Broadcom brings this action to recover damages and enjoin Qualcomm’s continuing abuses. 

5. Standard-development organizations (“SDOs”) establish standards for high-technology 

industries to ensure compatibility and interoperability.  However, once adopted, a standard 

incorporating proprietary technologies creates the potential for opportunists to extract monopoly 

rents and insist on anticompetitive licensing terms.  To address this hold-up risk, SDOs often 

require patent holders to disclose their essential intellectual property (“IP”) and commit to 

license such essential IP on fair, reasonable, and non-discriminatory (“FRAND”) terms.  

Qualcomm, however, repeatedly has subverted the standard-setting process to suit Qualcomm’s 

own narrow purposes, in a variety of ways, each of which result, after the standard is established, 

in Qualcomm asserting it owns essential intellectual property and demanding that its rivals and 

customers pay it exorbitant royalties and provide other concessions.   

6. Qualcomm never intended to foster competition through standardization, as contemplated 

by the authorities that permit standardization, or to license its technology on FRAND terms.  

Qualcomm’s FRAND commitments were and are false promises.  Qualcomm promised to 

license on FRAND terms to obtain market power while intending to extract “whatever price the 

market would bear” for its technology after the standard was adopted and implemented.  As 

such, Qualcomm has systematically sought to take advantage of the lock-in that occurs when a 

standard is adopted and implemented, and to discriminate in its licensing in favor of its own 

downstream products, all in violation of its FRAND commitments.  Qualcomm has done so as 

part of a pattern and practice of evading the protections that SDOs put in place to prevent 
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participants from exploiting the potential for holdup that exists when a particular proprietary 

technology is chosen for inclusion in a standard.  

7. As one example, in the establishment of a crucial standard for third-generation wireless 

networks for cell phones, called UMTS, Qualcomm made false commitments to license on 

FRAND terms.  After the standard’s adoption, Qualcomm has demanded unfair, unreasonable, 

and discriminatory royalties that not only break but belie its FRAND promises.  Qualcomm has 

used its purportedly essential intellectual property not only to reap monopoly profits in the form 

of royalties and other concessions, but also to attempt to monopolize the market for chipsets for 

UMTS phones.   

8. As described below, Qualcomm has engaged in a pattern and practice of anticompetitive 

conduct with respect to various standard-setting processes in addition to UMTS, including in the 

GSM/GPRS/EDGE, H.264, IEEE 802.20, and CDMA 2000-1xEVDO and -1xEVDV standards.  

With each of these, Qualcomm has engaged in conduct designed to undermine competition, 

including delayed disclosures of IP, refusals to license on FRAND terms, and the use of 

undisclosed consultants to manipulate standards proceedings.  For GSM/GPRS/EDGE, 

Qualcomm delayed disclosure of its patents purportedly essential to those standards, engaged in 

offensive litigation designed to further frustrate development within those standards, and violated 

its FRAND commitments.  Qualcomm similarly delayed disclosure of two patents purportedly 

essential to the H.264 standard, and then asserted meritless infringement claims against 

Broadcom to further undermine Broadcom’s ability to compete with Qualcomm, and 

intentionally deceived the trial court in order to hide its conduct.  It also refused to comply with 

its FRAND commitments with respect to those two patents.  Qualcomm also effectively 

undermined standardization efforts in IEEE 802.20 and with respect to CDMA 2000-1xEVDV, 
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through vote-stacking, misuse of its market power over participants in the standard-setting 

process, and other misconduct designed to bias, prevent or delay the adoption of those standards.  

Qualcomm’s conduct with respect to each of these standards, individually and collectively, 

affirms that Qualcomm has engaged in a willful campaign to manipulate and sabotage the 

standard-setting process.  

JURISDICTION, VENUE AND COMMERCE 

9. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 4 of the Sherman Act, 15 

U.S.C. § 4, and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337. 

10. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims asserted in this action 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

11. The conduct alleged herein has affected and is affecting a substantial volume of interstate 

and foreign commerce, including commerce in this District. 

12. Venue is proper in this District under Section 12 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 22, and 

under 28 U.S.C. § 1391.  Defendant Qualcomm transacts and is registered to do business in, 

resides in, and is found within this District.  Qualcomm has also appointed an agent for service 

of process in New Jersey.   

13. New Jersey is a center for other key players in the wireless industry.  LG Electronics 

(“LGE”) and Motorola. Inc. (“Motorola”) – two of the major cell phone manufacturers, which 

Qualcomm has described as “major customers” – have substantial business operations in this 

District.  LGE’s North American headquarters is located in Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, and 

Motorola has substantial operations in New Jersey, including facilities in South Plainfield, Glen 

Rock and Piscataway.  Matsushita Electric Industrial Co., Ltd., another leading manufacturer of 

cell phones using the Panasonic brand name, has its principal North American subsidiary 
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(Panasonic Corporation of North America) headquartered in Secaucus, New Jersey.  In addition, 

Verizon Wireless, the nation’s largest CDMA carrier, is headquartered in Bedminster, New 

Jersey. 

14. Moreover, numerous other businesses and persons affected by this action are located 

within this District.  Millions of New Jersey consumers who have purchased or will purchase cell 

phones have been or will be injured by the higher prices, slower innovation, and reduced choices 

that have resulted and will result from Qualcomm’s anticompetitive conduct. 

THE STRUCTURE OF THE MOBILE WIRELESS INDUSTRY 

A. MOBILE WIRELESS CARRIERS, MOBILE WIRELESS HANDSET 
MANUFACTURERS, AND CHIPSET MANUFACTURERS 

15. Mobile wireless carriers (“carriers”) provide cell phone service to consumers.  Carriers 

operate the mobile wireless systems that enable consumers to place and receive telephone calls, 

and send and receive data, on cell phones.  Leading carriers in the United States include AT&T 

(formerly Cingular), T-Mobile USA, Inc., Verizon Wireless, and Sprint Corp. 

16. A number of companies around the world manufacture mobile wireless handsets (also 

known as cell phones), and the manufacturers typically sell those phones to the carriers, which in 

turn arrange for sale of the cell phones to consumers.  Cell phone manufacturers include Original 

Equipment Manufacturers (“OEMs”), which manufacture cell phones under their own names, as 

well as Original Design Manufacturers (“ODMs”), which manufacture cell phones for sale under 

an OEM’s brand name, usually based on a design created by the OEM.  Motorola and LGE are 

two leading cell phone OEMs.   

17. Cell phones contain, among other components, one or more computer chipsets that 

deliver the cell phones’ core ability to communicate with the wireless system.  Such chipsets are 

sometimes referred to as application-specific integrated circuits, or “ASICs.” 
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B. THE ROLE OF SDOS AND STANDARDS 

18. Standards play a critical role in the development of technologies that affect virtually all 

aspects of modern life.  Standards facilitate the adoption and advancement of technology and 

facilitate the development of products that can interoperate.  Companies that produce products 

implementing a standard can make products by referencing only the standard, without the need 

to communicate separately with every other company with which their products may need to 

work.  Companies producing products implementing a standard can therefore guarantee that their 

products will operate with products produced by other companies that also implement the 

standard.  Interoperability enables multiple companies to develop products that compete more 

effectively with one another. 

19. When participants in SDOs comply with the practices, policies, and procedures of the 

SDOs and do not abuse the standard-setting process, standard setting can have procompetitive 

effects.  The adoption of standards can provide for interoperability, can improve quality, and can 

simplify product development.   

20. Once a standard has been adopted, patents that are essential to that standard gain value as 

a result of the exclusion of alternative technologies that could otherwise have been used to 

achieve the same functions covered by such patents.  The adoption of a patent holder’s 

technology into a standard can enable the holders of essential patents, if not otherwise 

constrained, to extract monopoly rents (including in the form of royalty rates and other terms) 

from parties that want to produce products that implement the standard.  Such companies can 

become “locked in” to a particular technology if, due to cost or other considerations, it is not 

practical to develop or switch to another technology, or if customers for their products (such as 

carriers) are locked into standardized technology and therefore have no practical choice other 

than to purchase standard-compliant equipment.   
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21. The adoption of a standard requiring the use of technology covered by a patent also 

confers upon that patent holder the ability, if not otherwise constrained, to capture for itself 

downstream markets or to shut down use of the standard entirely. 

22. To prevent such abuse of the standard-setting process by participants, SDOs frequently 

adopt rules, policies, and/or procedures relating to participants’ intellectual property rights 

(“IPR”).  The rules, policies, and/or procedures of an SDO relating to IPR are known as the “IPR 

policies” of the SDO.   

23. The IPR policies applicable to the standards at issue in this matter required participants to 

disclose IPR, such as patents or patent applications, they believe is relevant to the standard under 

consideration.  Those policies also required that the standard be rewritten or withdrawn if a 

license for IPR that is essential or potentially essential to implementing the standard could not be 

obtained.  Those policies further required participants having IPR they believe may be essential 

to the standard under consideration to commit to license that IPR on FRAND terms.  In part to 

prevent undue influence over members’ decisions regarding which technology to incorporate in a 

standard, IPR policies also typically required participants to disclose their affiliations with any 

company or organization that has a financial interest in the technology under consideration 

(including potential IPR).   

24. Indeed, standards are especially critical to and prevalent in the mobile wireless industry, 

and standards have played an important role in the adoption of mobile wireless technology.  

Standards are required to ensure that a carrier’s wireless system can seamlessly interface and 

function properly with cell phones made by various manufacturers.  Regardless of which 

manufacturer makes a cell phone, which chipset maker supplies the components for the cell 

phone, and which company manufactures the service provider’s infrastructure, each cellular 
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phone must be capable of interfacing with all of the other components in a carrier’s wireless 

system.   

25. Several SDOs have worked with the wireless industry to develop wireless 

communications standards. 

26. The International Telecommunications Union (“ITU”) is the central telecommunications 

SDO worldwide.  The ITU is an international organization comprised of governments and firms 

in the private sector that coordinates the operation of telecommunications systems and services 

and advances the development of communications technology.  The ITU’s standardization 

activities are designed to foster the growth of new technologies, such as mobile telephony and 

the Internet, as well as the emerging global information infrastructure that handles a mix of 

voice, data and multimedia signals.  The ITU develops internationally agreed-upon technical and 

operating standards to foster interconnection of the world’s communications systems. 

27. The Telecommunications Industry Association (“TIA”) is the leading U.S.-based SDO 

for the communications and information technology industry.  The TIA is comprised of member 

companies that manufacture or supply products and services used in global communications.  

The Alliance of Telecommunications Industry Solutions (“ATIS”) is another SDO based in the 

United States.  Other SDOs that operate around the world in this area include the Association of 

Radio Industries and Businesses (“ARIB”) of Japan, the Telecommunications Technology 

Committee (“TTC”) of Japan, the China Communications Standards Association (“CCSA”), and 

the Telecommunications Technology Association (“TTA”) of Korea. 

28. The American National Standards Institute (“ANSI”) is a private nonprofit organization 

that oversees the development of voluntary consensus standards, and is the U.S. representative to 
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the International Standards Organization (“ISO”)/International Electrotechnical Commission 

(“IEC”). 

29. The European Telecommunications Standards Institute (“ETSI”) is an independent, non-

profit SDO founded in 1988 and headquartered in France.  The mission of ETSI is to produce 

global communications standards.   

30. ETSI led and continues to lead the standardization process for a family of standards 

referred to as Global System for Mobility (“GSM”), GSM Packet Radio Service (“GPRS”), 

Enhanced Data Rates for GSM Evolution (“EDGE”), and Universal Mobile Telecommunications 

System (“UMTS”). 

31. Membership in ETSI is open to any company or organization, although full membership 

in ETSI is limited to companies or organizations located in certain geographic areas.  Today, 

ETSI has more than 600 members, including many of the world’s leading producers of 

technology for mobile communications.   

32. Members of ETSI develop, evaluate, and approve ETSI’s standards.  Members of ETSI 

directly influence the technical content of ETSI standards.   

33. In the past several years, standards bodies specific to wireless technology standards have 

developed.  The Third Generation Partnership Project (“3GPP”) has focused on the evolution of 

GSM and UMTS technology, and the Third Generation Partnership Project 2 (“3GPP2”) has 

focused on the evolution of Code Division Multiple Access (“CDMA”) technology. 

34. Cell phones have developed through several “generations” in response to demand for 

mobile wireless systems that carry data at faster rates and voice traffic at higher capacity.  

Wireless carriers increasingly have been focused on providing wireless data services through 

mobile phones, including wireless access to the Internet, multimedia entertainment, broadcast 
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television and position location services.  The earliest wireless systems, which included analog 

technology with voice transmission only, are typically referred to as first generation or “1G.”  1G 

technology was characterized by inherent capacity limitations, minimal data transfer capabilities, 

low security, inconsistent service levels, and significant power consumption.  

35. The limitations of analog technology drove the development of a second generation of 

digital-based technologies.  Second generation, or “2G,” digital technology provided 

significantly enhanced efficiency through greatly increased voice capacity compared to analog 

systems.  Second generation technologies also enabled wireless carriers to begin to offer 

numerous enhanced services, including paging, e-mail connections to computer networks, 

greater privacy, and greater fraud protection. 

36. The leading 2G cell phone technologies are based on GSM and CDMA technologies.  In 

the United States, AT&T and T-Mobile (among others) use GSM networks, while Verizon 

Wireless and Sprint (among others) use CDMA networks.  The technologies are incompatible; a 

GSM phone will not work on a CDMA network and vice versa. 

37. The 2G standards have been supplemented by evolutionary improvements and 

advancements that permit greater data rates and increased voice capacity.  Many GSM carriers 

have adopted or are adopting technologies known as GPRS and EDGE, which are sometimes 

referred to as “2.5G” technologies.  Similarly, CDMA carriers have moved from a 2G standard 

called “cdmaOne,” to a newer IS-2000 standard, referred to as CDMA2000, the first iteration of 

which is another “2.5G” technology.  As with the basic 2G standards, the 2.5G variants of GSM 

and CDMA technologies are incompatible with one another. 

38. As demand for wireless systems that carry both data at faster speeds and voice at higher 

capacity has increased significantly, third-generation or “3G” wireless standards have been 
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proposed and adopted by international SDOs.  A technology standard selected for 3G must 

efficiently support significantly increased data speeds and capacity over limited spectrum 

bandwidth, thereby enabling new and enhanced services and applications such as mobile e-

commerce, broadcast television, position location, and mobile multimedia web browsing, 

including music and video downloads. 

39. The UMTS standard was designed to permit economical transition from 2G GSM-based 

systems to a 3G standard, and is the logical evolutionary step for GSM carriers.  The UMTS 

standard permits a dual-mode approach incorporating both the GSM family of standards 

(including GPRS and EDGE) as well as a set of 3G protocols based on Wideband Code Division 

Multiple Access (“WCDMA”).  Despite the similarity in name, cell phones designed for 

WCDMA operation under the UMTS standards are not compatible with any of the CDMA 

standards, regardless of generation, and the 3G standard for CDMA networks is entirely separate 

from either UMTS or WCDMA. 

40. The transition from 2G and 2.5G to 3G systems is requiring and will require carriers to 

make substantial investments.  UMTS and 3G CDMA will be the significant 3G standards, with 

3G CDMA as the upgrade path for current 2G CDMA carriers and UMTS as the upgrade path 

for current carriers of GSM and related technologies. 

41. Cell phone technology will continue to develop during and after the move to 3G 

technology.  Driven by demand for an increasing number of wireless applications and improved 

quality of existing applications, carriers wish to offer newer technologies that provide ever-

increasing bandwidth supporting more advanced applications such as video and multimedia 

applications.  The industry has already undertaken substantial development of technologies that 

may be implemented in beyond-third-generation (“B3G”) and fourth-generation (“4G”) mobile 
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wireless systems.  SDOs working in the wireless area, including 3GPP and 3GPP2, have already 

begun work establishing B3G standards. 

C. THE TECHNOLOGY MARKETS 

42. As a core part of the development of an industry standard, SDO participants seek to 

determine the appropriate technology to be used for each individual function required to practice 

the relevant standard.  SDO participants evaluate and select among viable alternatives, 

competing technologies that are capable of performing each required function, and typically 

select among the alternatives on the basis of technical merit and intellectual property 

considerations, including whether the alternative includes proprietary technology and whether 

and on what terms such proprietary technology is available.  Prior to adoption of the standard, 

there are generally multiple alternative technology solutions competing to perform the 

functionality at issue. 

43. Once SDO participants select a technology to perform a particular function needed to 

practice a standard, all alternative technological solutions for that function are excluded from use 

in connection with that standard.  Thus, the selection of a particular technology in the standard 

development process reduces to a single option the technology to perform each function 

necessary to practice the standard.  If the chosen technology is essential to practice the standard 

and is covered by patents, then the owner of such essential patent rights becomes the sole 

supplier of the technology needed for the particular function incorporated in the standard.  This is 

true for each function comprising the standard for which patented technology was selected.   

44. Because each of the mobile wireless standards specifies a set of distinct technologies to 

perform the various functions within the standard, once a standard is adopted there are, by 

definition, no substitutes for the standardized technologies on which each particular standard is 
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based.  For instance, if a manufacturer wishes to produce products, such as chipsets, that 

conform to the UMTS standard, it cannot do so without using the technology that has been made 

essential to that standard.  The same holds true for essential GSM technologies, GPRS 

technologies, EDGE technologies, and H.264 technologies. 

45. Before a standard is adopted, all of the alternative technologies to perform each particular 

function within the standard compete in a relevant product market consisting of all technologies 

capable of performing that function.  These products markets are collectively referred to for a 

particular standard as “technology markets.”  Because of the global nature of the products at 

issue in this case, the geographic scope of the technology markets is worldwide.   

46. Qualcomm claims to own patents essential to practice the technologies that are used for 

certain individual functions required to practice the UMTS standard, the GSM standard, the 

GPRS standard, the EDGE standard, and the H.264 standard.  As a result, Qualcomm claims 

monopoly positions in each technology market for which Qualcomm’s technology was adopted. 

47. Because Qualcomm claims patents on technologies incorporated in the relevant 

standards, its claimed monopoly positions in the corresponding technology markets are protected 

by high barriers to competitive entry.  Among other things, each technology is locked into the 

standard as the only way to provide the particular functionality, and any solution based on the 

standardized technology will therefore implicate those patent rights.  As such, by definition, 

there are no substitutes for the standardized technology on which the family of patents read; the 

standard cannot be practiced without using technology based on the essential patents.   

48. Accordingly, with respect to each technology that is needed to perform a particular 

functionality provided in the UMTS standard on which each purportedly essential Qualcomm 

patent reads, Qualcomm has obtained a monopoly in a relevant product market, collectively 
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referred to herein as the WCDMA technology markets.  In the same way, the technology on 

which each purportedly essential Qualcomm patent reads for the GSM standard, the GPRS 

standard, the EDGE standard, and the H.264 standard (i.e., the functionality that each such patent 

provides in the particular standard) constitutes a relevant product market, collectively referred to 

herein as the Qualcomm GSM technology markets, the Qualcomm GPRS technology markets, 

the Qualcomm EDGE technology markets, and the Qualcomm H.264 technology markets, 

respectively.   

49. By their nature, the geographic scope of the various technology markets alleged herein is 

worldwide. 

D. THE CHIPSET MARKETS 

50. Each type of wireless system (e.g., GSM, GPRS, EDGE, 2G CDMA, 2.5G CDMA, 3G 

CDMA, and UMTS) has unique features and technology, and thus neither the systems, nor the 

phones used for each system, are interchangeable or substitutes.  For a wireless service carrier to 

develop any one of those systems requires billions of dollars of investments in infrastructure.  

Thus, once a carrier’s initial decision to install a system has been made, the sunk investment in 

that system, and the costs that would be incurred to establish a different system, make it virtually 

impossible to switch to a different technology. 

51. At this point few, if any, new wireless networks will be built from scratch, particularly in 

the United States.  Even for new networks, limited and costly information has prevented carriers 

from taking into full account the long-term costs of operating a network, including the costs of 

chipsets for cell phones.  As the Chairman and CEO of Qualcomm stated in 2000:  “If you look 

at cdmaOne operators, it’s certainly more economical to go to cdma2000 because of the way the 

system is designed.”  By making the transition to the next generation of the technology that a 

carrier has already selected – whether CDMA or GSM for 2G services – the carrier can follow a 
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relatively lower cost evolutionary path compared to the generally insurmountable expense 

entailed in switching between technologies.   

52. At the same time, only phones with the appropriate technology will work on a particular 

mobile wireless network.  Similarly, the chipsets that operate cell phones must conform to the 

technology of the system for which the phone is being manufactured.  For example, only 3G 

CDMA chipsets can be used in a 3G CDMA phone; only GSM chipsets can be used in a GSM 

phone; and only UMTS chipsets can be used in a UMTS phone.  None of the chipsets is either 

interchangeable with, or a substitute for, another.  

53. While the investment in upgrading from one generation of CDMA to another is less than 

the investment and time required to switch from one technology (such as CDMA) to another 

(such as GSM), distinct demand and different pricing for each generation of chipsets means that 

chipsets for one generation are not economic substitutes for chipsets from another generation, 

and it is therefore appropriate to define separate product markets for each chipset generation.   

54. As used herein, “xG CDMA chipset markets” means the markets for the sale of the 

chipsets that provide the core communications functions for the particular generation of CDMA-

based cell phones.  The geographic scope of each of the CDMA chipset markets is worldwide. 

55. Similarly, UMTS chipsets are in a separate product market from the chipsets for GSM, 

CDMA and other cellular phone technologies.  The geographic scope of the market for UMTS 

chipsets is worldwide.  

QUALCOMM’S MONOPOLIZATION OF THE CDMA CHIPSET MARKETS  
 

56. Through a variety of anticompetitive means, Qualcomm has monopolized the CDMA 

chipset markets, excluding virtually all competitors.  This conduct both has paved the way for 

Qualcomm’s attempt to monopolize the UMTS chipset market by giving Qualcomm power over 
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manufacturers of UMTS cell phones (most of which also produce CDMA cell phones) and 

demonstrates how Qualcomm will accomplish the same monopoly result in UMTS chipsets.  

A.  QUALCOMM HAS OBTAINED AND MAINTAINED MONOPOLY POWER IN 
THE CDMA CHIPSET MARKETS  

57. By its own statements, Qualcomm holds more than 1400 patents relating to CDMA 

technology and components, including the majority of the patents declared “essential” for the 

various generations of CDMA.  According to Qualcomm, the CDMA standards and the UMTS 

standard cannot be practiced without using Qualcomm’s patented technology.  As such, and 

based on Qualcomm’s own representation, there are no substitutes for the technology and thus 

Qualcomm holds monopoly power in each of the CDMA technology markets for functionalities 

purportedly covered by Qualcomm’s patents. 

58. Qualcomm has used that power over CDMA technology to obtain and protect monopoly 

power in the various generations of CDMA chipset markets.  According to Qualcomm’s public 

statements, through fiscal year 2005, Qualcomm had shipped more than 400 million of its 

CDMA chipsets worldwide.  Qualcomm sells approximately 90% of each generation of the 

world’s CDMA chipsets.   

59. Industry analysts also place Qualcomm’s market share in the CDMA chipset markets at 

90% or more.  For example, market research firm iSuppli Corporation reported that in 2003, 

Qualcomm’s CDMA chipset revenues were approximately $1.7 billion out of a total of $1.87 

billion for the industry. 

60. According to industry analysts, Qualcomm has more than a 90% share of each of the 

CDMA chipset markets.  For example, market research firm Forward Concepts reported that in 

2006, the latest year for which Forward Concepts has released data, Qualcomm provided 88% of 
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all CDMA2000-1xRTT (2.5G) and CDMA2000-1xEVDO (3G) chipsets, with Nokia providing 

(to itself) 9% based on a custom design not available on the open market. 

61. Qualcomm’s monopoly power in the sale of CDMA chipsets has allowed it to raise prices 

and restrict output.  Qualcomm has charged extremely high prices for CDMA chipsets – on the 

order of double the price of GSM chipsets – that are not justified by production costs, by product 

functionality, or by quality.  Both Qualcomm’s own public statements and reports from industry 

analysts and media demonstrate that the supply of CDMA chipsets is below levels that would 

exist in a competitive market.  Indeed, over time Qualcomm has recurrently noted capacity and 

supply shortages, in each instance suggesting that the problems would be solved in short order.  

For example: 

• In its January 26, 2001 10-Q filing with the SEC, Qualcomm stated that “[t]he 
Company anticipates shipments in the second quarter of fiscal 2001 to be constrained 
by a capacity limitation at one of its suppliers.  The Company expects the supply 
constraint to be substantially resolved by the third quarter of fiscal 2001.” 

• On April 8, 2002, a trade publication reported that “[i]ndustry analysts have predicted 
that a shortage of devices would slow the uptake of next-generation services, even as 
wireless operators began to upgrade their networks on the CDMA2000 or W-CDMA 
migration paths to third-generation capabilities.  San Diego-based Qualcomm, which 
owns patents for all CDMA device and network technology, said it corrected the 
problem and is ‘shipping large production volumes’ of 1X chipsets worldwide.” 

• On July 23, 2003, Qualcomm’s Executive Vice President stated that “[a]t this time we 
believe carry [sic] inventories are largely in line with what CDMA carriers consider 
normal inventory, and in India shipments were recently being expedited to avert 
shortages.” 

• In a news report dated January 22, 2004, Qualcomm’s Chief Operating Officer was 
quoted as saying: “In India, for instance, they’re complaining that they couldn’t get 
phones and they could’ve grown faster.  I certainly don’t expect to see shortages for 
very long.” 

• On April 22, 2004, Qualcomm’s President was quoted as describing the chipset 
shortage situation as “very much a supply limited market” and stating that a wireless 
carrier had been “constrained by the number of phones they can get.”  
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• On May 13, 2004, Qualcomm’s Executive Vice President stated on an investor 
teleconference that, “As you know we've had some shortages in meeting specific 51 
and 5500 chipset demand.”  The same representative stated that, “There will be some 
shortage in one or two parts going forward but very small shortages we expect. So we 
will have a future strategy, which is in much better alignment.”   

• In its July 23, 2004 10-Q filing, Qualcomm stated that its chipset business “continued 
to experience supply constraints which resulted in our inability to meet certain 
customer demands” and that “we expect recent channel inventory shortages of 
integrated circuits to be alleviated in the future.” 

• On October 21, 2004, the Reuters news service reported that, according to Qualcomm’s 
Chief Financial Officer William Keitel, “Qualcomm has resolved most of its supply 
issues, but is still producing some chips used for transmitting and receiving calls to 
mobile phones too slowly.  ‘We'll have it resolved by the end of the first calendar 
quarter,’ Keitel said in an interview with Reuters.  ‘Our window on when we expect to 
be back in balance has been moving out because demand has continued to increase.’. . .  
Keitel said the shortage relates to radio chips in Qualcomm's 6000 series product range 
but did not name specific products.”   

As these statements illustrate, Qualcomm has repeatedly demonstrated that it possesses the 

power to control the output of CDMA chipsets. 

62. Qualcomm’s monopoly position is protected by high barriers to entry.  Qualcomm has 

admitted that “a company seeking to develop, manufacture and/or sell products that use CDMA 

technology will require a license” from it, and regularly states that it is “widely recognized” that 

its intellectual property is “essential for the development, manufacture and sale of products 

implementing” CDMA.  The technical complexity and Qualcomm’s control of essential patents 

make potential entrants dependent on Qualcomm for entry into the CDMA chipset markets. 

63. Entry into the CDMA chipset business has been limited.  Only a few firms – such as 

Texas Instruments Incorporated, PrairieComm Incorporated, VIA Telecom, Inc., Eonex 

Technologies, Inc., and (for its own internal use) Samsung Electronics – have entered the CDMA 

chipset business, and these firms have not achieved commercial success on any significant scale.  

Intel Corporation, a leader in semiconductor manufacturing and technology with substantial 
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assets, attempted to develop a CDMA chipset business, but exited when it failed to achieve 

commercial success. 

B.  QUALCOMM HAS OBTAINED AND PROTECTED ITS MONOPOLY POWER 
WITH A PATTERN OF ANTICOMPETITIVE CONDUCT  

64. Qualcomm’s CDMA monopolies are not the result of superior business acumen or simple 

good fortune.  Rather, Qualcomm’s durable monopoly position in the CDMA markets has 

resulted from a continuing course of exclusionary, anticompetitive conduct. 

65. For example, Qualcomm has used its power over CDMA chipset supply to discipline 

customers and exclude competitors.  As discussed above, Qualcomm’s CDMA chipset customers 

(cell phone manufacturers) have frequently complained, and Qualcomm has repeatedly admitted 

in public statements, that the supply of Qualcomm’s chipsets has not kept pace with demand.   

66. The constant threat of a supply shortage increases Qualcomm’s leverage with 

manufacturers because Qualcomm’s anticompetitive use of its monopoly has resulted in the 

virtual exclusion of all competitors.  As explained in a report from the industry news source 

Telecom Asia:   

These companies have had to live with the shortages since Qualcomm is the only 
CDMA chipset supplier in Korea, although it subcontracts manufacturing to IBM 
and two Taiwanese companies.  Many firms hesitate to complain as they’re 
concerned about disruptions in their already reduced orders. 

67. Competition among cell phone manufacturers is fierce.  Absent adequate supplies of 

chipsets, a manufacturer may be unable to meet critical obligations to deliver cell phones to 

carrier customers.  Accordingly, the allocation of scarce chipsets, particularly at high-demand 

times such as during manufacturing for the Christmas shopping season, is vital to cell phone 

manufacturers.  Qualcomm has frequently used distribution of limited supplies of chipsets to 

favor certain customers.  For example, in early 2004, news reports explained that Korean cell 

phone manufacturers were suffering from a CDMA chipset shortage, and that Qualcomm was 
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providing only 70 to 80 percent of the chipsets that certain customers had ordered, and other 

customers were receiving only half of the chipsets they had ordered. 

68. Qualcomm wields its power over the allocation of scarce chipsets as a tool to threaten 

and discipline cell phone manufacturers which otherwise would do business with competitors.  

For example, Qualcomm has threatened manufacturers with the loss of important benefits such 

as favorable lead times, free reference designs and other design work, training, and software, if 

these manufacturers purchase chipsets from a competitor.  Similarly, as discussed below, 

Qualcomm has threatened manufacturers with supply cutbacks or price increases if these 

manufacturers support standard development that Qualcomm does not favor.  As one example of 

the fear that Qualcomm’s conduct has engendered, a representative of a Korean handset 

manufacturer was anonymously quoted in the Korea Times as saying, “A bigger problem is 

nobody can file a complaint to Qualcomm. Who would like to run the risk of being excluded 

from the customer list of Qualcomm, the monopolistic player?” 

69. As another example of Qualcomm’s anticompetitive conduct, in at least some 

manufacturer licenses Qualcomm substantially reduces royalty rates when a licensee agrees to 

purchase Qualcomm chipsets exclusively.  As Qualcomm has admitted, its patent licensing 

agreements with Chinese cell phone manufacturers are expressly discriminatory and explicitly 

linked to those manufacturers’ use of Qualcomm chipsets.  First, if the Chinese manufacturers 

use non-Qualcomm chipsets, they must pay Qualcomm more than twice the royalty that they 

would pay if they used Qualcomm chipsets.  In addition, the agreements provide that the royalty 

rate is dependent on whether the cell phone is sold inside or outside of China.  If a cell phone is 

sold outside China, the manufacturer is subject to a significantly higher royalty rate.  And, to get 
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the lower rate within China, the Chinese manufacturer must agree not to deal with a competitor.  

As Qualcomm has publicly summarized: 

The royalty rates provided to certain Chinese manufacturers for products 
manufactured and sold in China for use in China are more favorable than our 
standard rates.  However, in order to benefit from these more favorable rates in 
China, the Chinese manufacturer must provide substantial, additional value to 
QUALCOMM, including, among other things, (i) paying, for a period of time, a 
royalty on sales outside of China at a rate higher than our standard rate and (ii) 
committing to use QUALCOMM's ASICs in their worldwide sales of CDMA 
subscriber units and infrastructure.  (Emphasis added.) 
 

QUALCOMM IS REPEATING ITS PATTERN OF ANTICOMPETITIVE CONDUCT 
TO MONOPOLIZE THE WCDMA TECHNOLOGY MARKETS AND ATTEMPT TO 

MONOPOLIZE THE UMTS CHIPSET MARKET 
 

70. Successful in its efforts to obtain and maintain its CDMA chipset monopolies, Qualcomm 

now has its eyes set on the UMTS chipset market.  As set forth below, Qualcomm has unlawfully 

obtained a monopoly in the WCDMA technology markets and, using a broad pattern of conduct, 

including use of its monopoly power over cell phone manufacturers active in the CDMA 

standards and UMTS, Qualcomm has attempted to exclude and disadvantage competitors in 

order to obtain a monopoly in the UMTS chipset market.  

A.  QUALCOMM’S UNLAWFUL MONOPOLIZATION OF THE WCDMA 
TECHNOLOGY MARKETS 

71. In the late 1990s, ETSI began considering candidate technologies for the UMTS standard 

that would have worldwide application.  ETSI and its members considered a number of 

solutions, including, among others, WCDMA, Wideband Time Division Multiple Access 

(“WTDMA”), Wideband TDMA/CDMA (“TD-CDMA”), and Orthogonal Frequency Division 

Multiple Access (“OFDMA”). 

72. Qualcomm has been and is a full member of ETSI through its affiliates, Qualcomm Israel 

Ltd., Qualcomm Europe S.A.R.L., and Qualcomm UK Ltd.   

73. Qualcomm, through its affiliates, joined ETSI in April 1997.   
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74. Qualcomm has participated and continues to participate today in ETSI’s development of 

communications standards, including GSM, GPRS, EDGE, and UMTS.   

75. ETSI’s Statutes and Rules of Procedure govern the organization and operation of ETSI.   

76. The Statutes and Rules of Procedure of ETSI are applicable to all ETSI members, and 

ETSI members are required to commit themselves to compliance with the Statutes and Rules of 

Procedure as a condition of membership.   

77. The Statutes and Rules of Procedure of ETSI create a contractual obligation between 

ETSI and its members and participants, with those that wish to practice the standard, such as 

Broadcom in the case of the standards at issue here, as first- or third-party beneficiaries.  In 

addition, the policies and practices of ETSI give rise to implied contractual obligations for ETSI 

members and participants, and for third parties that seek to practice the standard.   

78. Annex 6 of the ETSI Rules of Procedure describes the ETSI Intellectual Property Rights 

Policy.   

79. The ETSI Intellectual Property Rights Policy and requires all ETSI members to make 

timely disclosures of essential IPR.   

80. The version of Section 4.1 of the ETSI Intellectual Property Rights Policy in effect at the 

relevant time stated, in relevant part: 

Each MEMBER shall use its reasonable endeavors to timely 
inform ETSI of ESSENTIAL IPRs it becomes aware of.   

81. As participants in ETSI standards development activities understood, the ETSI 

Intellectual Property Rights Policy required disclosure of all IPR that participants believed might 

be essential to standards under consideration. 

82. ETSI maintains a publicly accessible database of all IPR disclosures made by ETSI 

members.   
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83. ETSI’s IPR disclosure policy was and is intended to benefit all ETSI members and 

participants, as well as other third parties that implement a standard developed by ETSI.   

84. Before ETSI adopts a standard that includes IPR essential to practicing that standard, 

Section 6.1 of the ETSI Intellectual Property Rights Policy requires the owner of that IPR to 

make: 

[A]n undertaking in writing that it is prepared to grant irrevocable 
licences on fair, reasonable and non discriminatory terms and 
conditions under such IPR to at least the following extent: 

●  MANUFACTURE, including the right to make or have made 
customized components and sub-systems to the licensee's own 
design for use in MANUFACTURE, 

●  sell, lease, or otherwise dispose of EQUIPMENT so 
MANUFACTURED, 

●  repair, use, or operate EQUIPMENT, and 

●  use METHODS.  

The above undertaking may be made subject to the condition that 
those who seek licences agree to reciprocate.  

85. Qualcomm has expressly agreed and contracted to license patents that it claims are 

essential to practicing ETSI standards on terms and conditions that comply with the licensing 

obligation of Section 6.1 of the ETSI Intellectual Property Rights Policy.  

86. As a result of its membership and participation in ETSI, Qualcomm entered into an actual 

and/or implied contract with ETSI.  Qualcomm was and is bound by the ETSI Statutes and Rules 

of Procedure, including the ETSI Intellectual Property Rights Policy.  Qualcomm is also bound 

by its agreement to offer FRAND licenses in accordance with ETSI’s IPR policy.   

87. During the development of the UMTS standard, concept groups within ETSI were 

formed to test and evaluate technology alternatives.  Each group produced a technical proposal 

demonstrating how the relevant technology complied with the technical requirements established 

by ETSI for the 3G standard, and none was considered superior.  The committee chairman in 
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ETSI reported in December 1997 that “when the uncertainty on simulations and the differences 

in the assumptions made in order to evaluate that performance of the concepts are considered 

SMG2 [Special Mobile Group 2] have not be[en] able to conclude that any single one of these 

concept[s] provides a better solution than the other concepts. . . .  Therefore SMG2 request SMG 

to decide on the basis of which of the concepts . . . SMG2 shall continue the work on the UMTS 

Terrestrial Radio Access.” 

88. In the late 1990s, Qualcomm made proposals in an attempt to steer the UMTS standard 

then under development toward purportedly patented Qualcomm technologies and away from 

alternative technologies that were at least as effective.   

89. Around this time and in order to secure the inclusion of the WCDMA technology to 

which Qualcomm purports to hold essential patents included in the UMTS standard, Qualcomm 

made repeated and express written representations to SDOs, including the ITU, ETSI, and 3GPP, 

that it would license any of its essential patents on FRAND terms. 

90. Qualcomm’s false commitments to FRAND were intended to, and did, secure 

incorporation of Qualcomm’s technology into the UMTS standard, including the selection of 

technology to which Qualcomm claims to have patents as essential elements of the UMTS 

standard.  In reliance on Qualcomm’s FRAND assurances, SDOs around the world, including 

ETSI, included Qualcomm’s technology in the UMTS standard.  Wireless service carriers in turn 

invested billions of dollars in building and improving wireless networks utilizing WCDMA 

technology.   

91. By definition, according to Qualcomm’s express statements to SDOs, any business that 

manufactured or sold a UMTS-compliant product would infringe Qualcomm’s patents unless it 

obtained a license for which Qualcomm now asserts it can charge whatever monopolistic price it 



   
26 

 

chooses.  Thus, by Qualcomm’s statements, Qualcomm has monopoly power in the WCDMA 

technology markets.   

92. The first version of UMTS was released in December 1999. 

93. It was not until October 19, 2001 that Qualcomm disclosed any patents to ETSI as being 

purportedly essential to the UMTS standard.  By that point, ETSI had already released two 

versions of the UMTS standard.   

94. By virtue of its participation in ETSI, Qualcomm had an obligation to disclose earlier 

than October 19, 2001, all patents that it now contends or has ever contended are essential to 

UMTS.  Specifically, Qualcomm had an obligation to disclose the patents that it now contends or 

has ever contended are essential to UMTS before the aspects of UMTS to which those patents 

are purportedly essential were selected by ETSI.  Qualcomm failed to meet this obligation. 

95. In its October 19, 2001 disclosure, Qualcomm identified 161 patents or applications as 

purportedly essential to UMTS.   

96. Because Qualcomm failed to disclose its patents until years after ETSI adopted the 

UMTS standard, the participants in the ETSI standard-setting process were unable to consider 

the impact of Qualcomm’s asserted patent rights in formulating the UMTS standard, and 

Qualcomm was able unfairly and fraudulently to cause ETSI to adopt standards incorporating 

technology that Qualcomm now claims reads on its patents. 

97. Qualcomm’s disclosure of patents purportedly essential to the UMTS standard was 

untimely and in violation of the policies and practices of ETSI, including ETSI’s Intellectual 

Property Rights Policy. 

98. Qualcomm’s nondisclosure was deliberate and intentional. 
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B. QUALCOMM’S REFUSAL TO LICENSE ON FRAND TERMS  

99. Broadcom develops, markets, and sells microchips, chipsets, and software for mobile 

wireless devices complying with the UMTS standard. 

100. After Qualcomm had joined and begun participating in ETSI, Broadcom made substantial 

investments to develop and market UMTS products, including the acquisition of Zyray Wireless, 

Inc. in June 2004. 

101. In April 2006, Broadcom, following its acquisition of Zyray Wireless, Inc., introduced its 

first UMTS-compliant chip for the U.S. market. 

102. Broadcom continues today to develop, market, and sell microchips, chipsets, and 

software for mobile wireless devices complying with the UMTS standard. 

103. Qualcomm has asserted to companies, including Broadcom and its customers, that 

products implementing the UMTS standard require a license to Qualcomm’s purportedly 

essential patents. 

104. Qualcomm has also asserted to companies, including Broadcom and its customers, that 

Broadcom does not have a license from Qualcomm to implement the UMTS standard.   

105. Qualcomm’s claims that Broadcom requires a license to Qualcomm’s purported UMTS 

patents have injured and continue to injure Broadcom, including by interfering with Broadcom’s 

ability to develop products and make sales and by reducing Broadcom’s profits.   

106. Qualcomm’s refusal to honor its commitments to ETSI to license its purportedly essential 

IPR on FRAND terms and conditions and in accordance with the other terms of the ETSI IPR 

policies has injured and continues to injure Broadcom, including by interfering with Broadcom’s 

ability to develop and market semiconductors for UMTS-compliant mobile wireless devices.   

107. Indeed, Qualcomm repeatedly has breached its FRAND commitments.  Qualcomm’s 

licensing practices have been neither fair, nor reasonable, nor non-discriminatory.  Qualcomm 
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has engaged in a cumulative pattern of unlawful licensing and marketing practices in an attempt 

to expand its CDMA chipset and WCDMA technology monopolies into the UMTS chipset 

market.  These practices are wholly inconsistent with Qualcomm’s commitments to SDOs that 

Qualcomm would license its purportedly essential intellectual property on FRAND terms. 

108. Broadcom approached Qualcomm to obtain a license to Qualcomm’s so-called essential 

WCDMA patents on the FRAND terms that Qualcomm had committed to provide.  In willful 

disregard of the commitments it made to incorporate its technology into the UMTS standard, 

Qualcomm has refused to license any of its essential WCDMA patents on FRAND terms, and 

has demanded of Broadcom terms that are unfair, discriminatory, and patently unreasonable.   

109. Broadcom does not disclose the specifics of those terms here, because as part of 

Qualcomm’s efforts to impose non-FRAND terms on licensees, Qualcomm insists that parties 

seeking to negotiate a license enter into non-disclosure agreements that prevent disclosure of 

certain information relating to the negotiations.  Qualcomm has enforced such non-disclosure 

agreements in an extremely aggressive manner, including bringing and widely publicizing a 

meritless lawsuit attempting to strip a chipset competitor of its license to manufacture CDMA 

and UMTS chipsets based on the competitor’s alleged violations of a non-disclosure agreement.  

To the extent Qualcomm itself has not publicly disclosed its various licensing requirements, 

Qualcomm’s NDA practices limit Broadcom’s willingness and ability to describe in detail the 

unfair, discriminatory, and unreasonable terms to which Qualcomm has demanded Broadcom 

and other manufacturers of UMTS chipsets agree.   

(i) Demand for Royalties on Unpatented Components 

110. In contradiction of its FRAND commitments, Qualcomm seeks to collect royalties on 

parts of the UMTS chipset beyond Qualcomm’s patented technology.  Such a structure 
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discriminates against manufacturers such as Broadcom that plan to provide enhanced 

functionality on their UMTS chipsets.   

111. Qualcomm’s insistence on collecting royalties on this basis is unreasonable, unnecessary, 

and anticompetitive in that it decreases the economic incentives of Qualcomm’s licensees to 

innovate in ways that improve and add functionality to their UMTS chipsets.  Both alone and in 

combination with Qualcomm’s other anticompetitive conduct, it undermines UMTS innovation 

and competition. 

(ii) Demand for Non-Reciprocal Patent Rights 

112. Qualcomm also violates its FRAND obligations by requiring that its UMTS licensees 

grant back to Qualcomm licenses that are substantially broader than the licenses that Qualcomm 

will provide.  This overly broad and asymmetrical grant-back requirement is discriminatory in 

that it affects licensees with extensive relevant patent portfolios (such as Broadcom) more than it 

affects those without such portfolios.  Furthermore, under its FRAND obligations, Qualcomm 

may demand a grant-back only to the same set of rights that it licenses to the licensee; it may not 

insist on rights that are not reciprocal.  Qualcomm’s insistence on an asymmetrical grant-back 

has the additional anticompetitive effect of discouraging innovation by Qualcomm’s licensee-

competitors and thus, by itself and together with Qualcomm’s other anticompetitive conduct, 

undermines competition for UMTS chipsets and technology.   

(iii) Demand to Collect Double Royalties 

113. Despite Qualcomm’s FRAND commitments – unlike other owners of patents deemed 

essential to the CDMA or WCDMA standards – Qualcomm also insists on licenses at both the 

component level and the cell phone level.  Qualcomm charges some or all UMTS cell phone 

manufacturers a substantial royalty rate on the sales price of each cell phone sold, including the 
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value of the UMTS chipset within the handset.  In addition, Qualcomm charges some UMTS 

chipset manufacturers, and has insisted on charging, a substantial additional royalty on the sales 

price of each UMTS chipset sold. 

114. Qualcomm enforces its double royalty by demanding that its chipset manufacturer 

licensees agree not to sell their UMTS chipsets to non-Qualcomm licensed cell phone 

manufacturers, as well as by prohibiting handset licensees from using chipsets manufactured and 

generally sold by unlicensed manufacturers.  Qualcomm’s royalty scheme enables it 

inappropriately to charge twice for the same licensing right.   

115. UMTS cell phone manufacturers pay a royalty to Qualcomm for rights including the right 

to make (or have made) and use UMTS chipsets in UMTS cell phones to be sold by the licensee.  

Cell phone manufacturer licensees pay the same royalty rate per handset regardless of whether 

they make (or have made) their own customized UMTS chipsets or buy from a UMTS chipsets 

manufacturer that is licensed by Qualcomm.  Thus, when a UMTS cell phone manufacturer buys 

a UMTS chipset from a Qualcomm licensee, both the handset manufacturer and the chipset 

manufacturer are paying a royalty to Qualcomm for the right to make the chipset.  The cell phone 

manufacturer does not receive a reduction in its royalty payment if it purchases chipsets from a 

Qualcomm-licensed chipset manufacturer (to reflect the “make” right royalty payment already 

collected) – even though it does receive such a reduction, as discussed below, if it purchases 

chipsets from Qualcomm.  By reaping a double royalty for the same right and by charging this 

double royalty to some but not all licensees, Qualcomm has violated its FRAND obligations.   

116. In addition, by this practice Qualcomm effectively compels each customer to negotiate 

with Qualcomm for a separate license, even if that customer wants to purchase chipsets from a 

source other than Qualcomm.  The division of license rights in this manner enables Qualcomm to 
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control or influence the transaction between its chipset competitors and their manufacturer 

customers, and to discriminate between customers on the basis of whether they use Qualcomm or 

non-Qualcomm chipsets.   

117. Qualcomm has threatened UMTS cell phone manufacturers with, among other things, 

potential termination of their licenses, breach of contract lawsuits, and/or patent infringement 

lawsuits if they purchase UMTS chipsets from any company that does not have its own license 

from Qualcomm, including Broadcom.  Qualcomm has made these threats notwithstanding its 

knowledge that at least some of those cell phone manufacturers have paid a royalty on UMTS 

chipsets and are licensed to sell UMTS cell phones incorporating UMTS chipsets. 

118. Other parties with patents they have declared as essential to implementing WCDMA, 

including Nokia, Ericsson, InterDigital, and Samsung, among others, do not charge such double 

royalties.  Rather, these companies seek only one royalty.  

119. Qualcomm’s efforts to collect double royalties violate its FRAND obligations not only 

because they are unfair and unreasonable, but also because they impose different royalties 

overall (for the same rights) depending on whether a UMTS cell phone manufacturer uses third 

party UMTS chipsets or produces chipsets itself.   

120. As a cumulative consequence of this and Qualcomm’s other anticompetitive conduct, 

Qualcomm has undermined the ability of independent UMTS chipset manufacturers such as 

Broadcom to compete against Qualcomm in the UMTS chipset market.  This and Qualcomm’s 

other conduct have undermined competition in the UMTS chipset market. 

(iv) Unreasonable Royalty Demands Contrary to FRAND Commitments 

121. Qualcomm’s demands for unreasonable royalties are contrary to its obligation to license 

its WCDMA technology on FRAND terms.  In addition to collecting a double royalty, as 
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discussed above, the royalty rates charged by Qualcomm to UMTS chipset manufacturers for its 

WCDMA technology are far greater than the rates charged by any other company proclaiming to 

be an essential WCDMA patent holder.  Qualcomm also has publicly represented that it is 

charging the same royalty rates for licensing its WCDMA technology as it charges for licenses to 

its 3G CDMA technology, demonstrating again Qualcomm’s ability unilaterally to set prices, 

despite the fact that its patents comprise a much smaller proportion of the UMTS standard than 

of the 3G CDMA technology standard.  For example, at Qualcomm’s Spring Analyst Meeting on 

May 5, 2005, Qualcomm then-President-elect Steve Altman stated that Qualcomm’s licensees 

would be required to pay the same royalty rates regardless of whether any of its patents expire 

and regardless of the number or percentage of WCDMA essential patents held, provided that at 

least “one claim of one patent applies.”  Similarly, Qualcomm has rejected attempts by other 

WCDMA essential patent holders to set a government- or SDO-approved ceiling on the royalty 

rate at which all WCDMA technology for cell phones would be licensed in order to encourage 

adoption and proliferation of the technology.   

122. In short, despite Qualcomm’s commitments to various SDOs to license on FRAND 

terms, Qualcomm has never had any intention of applying a reasonable royalty rate.  

Qualcomm’s patents add far less value to the UMTS standard than to the 3G CDMA standard, 

but Qualcomm charges the same license rate for both, which gives Qualcomm disproportionate 

ability to influence the cost of UMTS products.  

(v) Demand for Anticompetitive Information Exchange 

123. Qualcomm has also insisted that it have the right to receive licensees’ sensitive pricing 

information relating to UMTS chipsets, including information about sales where the licensee and 

Qualcomm were competing head-to-head.  Such an anticompetitive information exchange would 
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discourage price competition and lacks any legitimate business justification.  The effect of this 

anticompetitive information exchange requirement, along with Qualcomm’s other conduct, is to 

prevent competition to the detriment of both would-be competitors such as Broadcom and 

consumers. 

C. QUALCOMM’S DISCRIMINATORY LINKAGE OF ITS PATENT LICENSES 
TO PURCHASE OF ITS UMTS CHIPSETS IN VIOLATION OF FRAND 

124. In addition to Qualcomm’s demands that Broadcom enter into these non-FRAND terms, 

Qualcomm has also imposed non-FRAND terms on other WCDMA licensees, just as it has in 

the CDMA markets, and has used such terms to undermine chipset competition from competitors 

like Broadcom.    

 (i) Discrimination in WCDMA Patent Royalty Rates 

125. Qualcomm’s patent licensing practices are designed to extend Qualcomm’s monopoly 

position in WCDMA technology markets into the UMTS chipset market.  In its licenses with cell 

phone manufacturers, Qualcomm has imposed discriminatory, onerous and unreasonable terms 

for the right to use Qualcomm’s WCDMA patents.  For example, Qualcomm has required 

manufacturer licensees to pay up-front multi-million dollar licensing fees, which it has 

occasionally waived, but only on a discriminatory basis – i.e., if cell phone manufacturers agree 

to purchase Qualcomm chipsets exclusively – despite the fact that no legitimate relationship 

exists between licensing of cell phone technology and purchase of chipsets.   

126. Qualcomm’s royalty rate discrimination furthers no legitimate competitive interest or 

business need.  Rather, Qualcomm’s royalty rate discrimination, based on whether manufacturers 

use Qualcomm’s chipsets, is intended to harm, and has the effect of harming, competition in the 

UMTS chipset market. 
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(ii) Discrimination in WCDMA Patent Royalty Calculations:  Price Netting and 
Other Practices 

127. Qualcomm has also engaged in “price netting,” another discriminatory and 

anticompetitive licensing practice.  Qualcomm typically charges each cell phone manufacturer 

licensee a royalty for Qualcomm’s essential WCDMA patents based on the price of the entire 

cell phone, including the chipset, if the cell phone uses a chipset made by a competitor of 

Qualcomm.  By contrast, Qualcomm permits cell phone manufacturers to deduct, or “net out,” 

the price that they pay Qualcomm for a Qualcomm chipset from the price of the cell phone 

before calculating the royalty amount.  This explicitly ties the patent royalty (that is, the price 

paid for intellectual property controlled by Qualcomm) to the purchase of the UMTS chipset, the 

product as to which Broadcom and others have sought to compete. 

128. Qualcomm’s price netting practices further no legitimate competitive interest or business 

need.  Rather, these practices are intended to harm, and have the effect of harming, competition 

for the manufacture and sale of UMTS chipsets. 

129. Another way in which Qualcomm discriminates in its licensing arrangements to distort 

competition in favor of its own UMTS chipsets is by using pass-through rights and non-assert 

agreements relating to third-party intellectual property that Qualcomm extracted from the third-

party owners of that intellectual property as a condition of obtaining a license to Qualcomm’s 

essential technology in various standards.  In extracting those rights, Qualcomm discriminated 

not only against purchasers of its rivals’ chipsets, but also against IP-rich licensees that are 

compelled to enter into such agreements. 

130. As a result of Qualcomm’s royalty rate discrimination, price netting practices, and other 

discrimination, each non-Qualcomm chipset that a cell phone manufacturer purchases carries 
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with it a substantial price penalty.  Price netting alone ensures that Broadcom would have to sell 

chipsets for less than Qualcomm’s chipsets to be cost competitive.   

131. The combined use of price netting and other discriminatory terms in Qualcomm’s 

manufacturer agreements – even putting aside Qualcomm’s other anticompetitive practices, as 

detailed above and below – put Broadcom and other competing chipset manufacturers at a 

significant disadvantage in pricing their UMTS chipsets to a cell phone manufacturer.  

Qualcomm’s ability and its readiness to abuse its monopoly power over essential patents and 

other technology, combined with its other conduct, has made meaningful competition 

impossible.  

D. QUALCOMM’S ANTICOMPETITIVE EXCLUSIVITY PAYMENTS AND 
OTHER COERCIVE CONDUCT 

132. Qualcomm has also foreclosed competition for UMTS chipsets through the use of 

discounts, marketing incentives, and other rewards that are conditioned on use of Qualcomm 

UMTS chipsets.  These incentives and concessions can amount to tens of millions of dollars for a 

single cell phone manufacturer licensee. 

133. Qualcomm also has threatened supply disruption in CDMA chipsets to induce customers 

to purchase Qualcomm UMTS chipsets.  This is a significant threat because, with Qualcomm 

having a monopoly in CDMA chipsets, many customers are dependent on Qualcomm for 

continued supply and reasonable pricing of CDMA chipsets, without which they cannot produce 

CDMA-compliant handsets. 

134. The discounts and inducements offered by Qualcomm in exchange for use of Qualcomm 

chipsets are designed to defeat competition that would expand UMTS chipset output, improve 

quality, and reduce the price of UMTS cell phones.  Qualcomm’s licensing practices, 

individually and collectively, substantially raise competitors’ costs of selling and marketing 
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UMTS chipsets, and strongly discourage chipset buyers from dealing with Qualcomm’s 

competitors.  These practices have the purpose and the effect of protecting Qualcomm from 

competition on the merits by Broadcom and others. 

E.  QUALCOMM’S CONDUCT PRESENTS A DANGEROUS PROBABILITY THAT 
IT WILL ACHIEVE MONOPOLY POWER IN THE UMTS CHIPSET MARKET 

135. Qualcomm’s efforts to monopolize the UMTS chipset market come at a time when the 

market is in its relative infancy.  Only limited UMTS systems are in place, but the UMTS chipset 

market is experiencing rapid growth.  Qualcomm has stated that only approximately 3 million 

UMTS or WCDMA cell phones were sold in 2003, that 22 million were sold in 2004, and that 

that 50 million such phones will be sold in 2005.   

136. Qualcomm touted that by January 2005 it had already signed UMTS design deals for 

chipsets and systems software with 26 cell phone manufacturers, including three of the leading 

UMTS cell phone manufactures, LGE, Samsung, and Siemens, from which Qualcomm has stated 

it expects 77% sales growth, as well as six of the top seven Chinese manufacturers, from which 

Qualcomm has stated it expects 126% sales growth.  Qualcomm also asserted to the International 

Trade Commission that its share of sales of UMTS chipsets in the United States is at least 80%. 

137. As a result of Qualcomm’s anticompetitive conduct, Qualcomm’s possession of 

monopoly power in the WCDMA technology markets, and Qualcomm’s possession of monopoly 

power in the CDMA chipset and technology markets, there is a dangerous probability that 

Qualcomm will obtain monopoly power in the UMTS chipset market, just as it has done in the 

2G, 2.5G, and 3G CDMA chipset markets. 

QUALCOMM HAS ABUSED THE STANDARD-SETTING PROCESS FOR 
GSM/GPRS/EDGE, H.264, IEEE 802.20, AND CDMA 2000 EVDV 

 
138. Qualcomm’s abuse of the UMTS standard-setting process is part of a pattern of 

misconduct by Qualcomm in standard setting.  Qualcomm has undertaken this misconduct to 
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avoid the requirement to disclose potentially essential IPR and to avoid the constraints that SDOs 

place on holders of purportedly essential IPR once it is incorporated into a standard.  This pattern 

and practice further demonstrates that Qualcomm’s abusive conduct in the UMTS standard-

setting process was intentional. 

A. GSM/GPRS/EDGE 

139. ETSI began work on GSM in 1989.  The first version of the GSM standard was released 

in 1990.   

140. ETSI released the first version of GPRS in March 1998.   

141. ETSI released the first version of EDGE in February 1999.   

142. Substantially the same ETSI IPR policy that applied to UMTS (see ¶¶ 75-84) applied to 

the development of GSM, GPRS, and EDGE. 

143. Qualcomm is the assignee of at least 104 patents or patent applications that it now, 

belatedly, claims are essential to practice GSM, GPRS, and/or EDGE.   

144. Although Qualcomm had been an ETSI member since 1997 and knew of and monitored 

ETSI’s development of the GSM family of standards, it was not until at least June 4, 2004, that 

Qualcomm first disclosed to ETSI the patent numbers of any patents that Qualcomm considered 

essential to practice GSM, GPRS, and/or EDGE.   

145. By virtue of its participation in ETSI, Qualcomm had an obligation earlier than June 4, 

2004, to disclose the patents that it now contends or has ever contended are essential to GSM, 

GPRS, and/or EDGE.  Specifically, Qualcomm had an obligation to disclose the patents that it 

now contends or has ever contended are essential to GSM, GPRS, and/or EDGE before the 

aspects of those standards to which those patents are purportedly essential were selected by 

ETSI.  Qualcomm failed to meet this obligation. 
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146. Because Qualcomm failed to disclose its patents until many years after ETSI adopted the 

GSM, GPRS, and/or EDGE standards, the participants in the ETSI standard-setting process were 

unable to consider the impact of Qualcomm’s asserted patent rights in formulating standards that 

incorporate technology that Qualcomm now claims read on those patent rights.  This distorted 

the process by which the participants selected among alternative technologies to incorporate in 

the standards based on considerations of technical merit and intellectual property rights, and 

allowed Qualcomm unfairly and fraudulently to cause ETSI to adopt standards incorporating 

technology that Qualcomm now claims reads on its patents.  

147. Had ETSI participants been made aware by Qualcomm of the patents that it considers 

essential to the GSM, GPRS, and EDGE standards, they would have had the opportunity to work 

around those patents, selected alternative technology to meet the particular functions covered by 

the Qualcomm patent, or taken other measures to protect themselves from exploitation by 

Qualcomm.  

148. Qualcomm’s disclosure of patents purportedly essential to GSM, GPRS, and EDGE was 

untimely and in violation of the policies and practices of ETSI, including ETSI’s Intellectual 

Property Rights Policy.   

149. Qualcomm’s nondisclosure was deliberate and intentional.   

150. After April 1997, ETSI developed all core technical content of the GPRS and EDGE 

standards.   

151. One of the factors that ETSI members considered in agreeing to and establishing the 

technical content of the GPRS and EDGE standards was the quantity, nature, scope, and 

ownership of IPR disclosed by ETSI participants.   
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152. Members of ETSI and others seeking to practice ETSI standards, including Broadcom, 

reasonably relied on other ETSI members having complied with ETSI’s rules and regulations, 

including ETSI’s Intellectual Property Rights Policy and ETSI’s requirement that members 

license IPR on FRAND terms and on terms that are otherwise in accordance with ETSI’s 

Intellectual Property Rights Policy.   

153. Broadcom has been a member of ETSI since 1998.  Broadcom develops, markets, and 

sells microchips, chipsets, and software for mobile wireless devices complying with the GSM, 

GPRS, and EDGE standards.   

154. Broadcom has made substantial investments to develop and market GSM, GPRS, and 

EDGE products, including the acquisition of Mobilink Telecom, Inc. in May 2002.   

155. In November 2003, following its acquisition of Mobilink Telecom, Inc., Broadcom 

introduced the first EDGE-compliant chip into the U.S. market.   

156. Broadcom continues today to develop, market, and sell microchips, chipsets, and 

software for mobile wireless devices complying with the GSM, GPRS, and EDGE standards.   

157. Qualcomm uses patent infringement actions asserting its patents purportedly essential to 

GSM, GPRS, and EDGE in order to punish those who seek to challenge its anticompetitive 

practices in respect of other standards, including in particular its WCDMA licensing practices.  

Qualcomm filed a patent infringement action against Broadcom on July 11, 2005, ten days after 

Broadcom filed its original complaint in this action.  Qualcomm also filed a patent infringement 

action against Nokia on November 4, 2005, approximately one week after it was announced that 

Nokia had filed a similar antitrust complaint with the European Commission. 

158. Shortly after filing its patent infringement action against Nokia in November 2005, 

Qualcomm made clear that it pursued both that action and its earlier infringement action against 
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Broadcom in retaliation for Nokia and Broadcom challenging Qualcomm’s anticompetitive 

conduct.  On November 11, 2005, Qualcomm’s general counsel, Lou Lupin, was quoted in the 

press assuring others in the market that “We do not have any plans, nor does it seem likely, that 

we will lodge any similar complaints against other manufacturers” and that “We have followed 

up on Nokia and Broadcom only because we have other disagreements with the companies.”   

159. Qualcomm has pursued this strategy of selectively asserting its patents purportedly 

essential to GSM, GPRS, and EDGE in an effort to shield its anticompetitive conduct from 

challenge, and in furtherance of its monopolization of the WCDMA technology markets and the 

UMTS chipset market.   

160. Qualcomm has asserted to companies, including Broadcom and its customers, that 

products implementing the GSM, GPRS, and EDGE standards require a license to Qualcomm’s 

purportedly essential patents. 

161. Qualcomm has also asserted to companies, including Broadcom and its customers, that 

Broadcom does not have a license from Qualcomm to implement the GSM, GPRS, and EDGE 

standards. 

162. Qualcomm’s claims that Broadcom requires a license to Qualcomm’s purportedly 

essential GSM, GPRS, and/or EDGE patents have injured and continue to injure Broadcom, 

including by interfering with Broadcom’s ability to make sales and reducing Broadcom’s profits. 

163. Qualcomm’s refusal to honor its commitments to ETSI to license its purportedly essential 

IPR on FRAND terms and conditions and in accordance with the other terms of the ETSI IPR 

policies has injured and continues to injure Broadcom, including by interfering with Broadcom’s 

ability to develop and market semiconductors for GSM, GPRS, and EDGE-compliant mobile 

wireless devices. 
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164. Qualcomm’s misconduct has injured and is continuing to injure competition and 

consumers in the United States and elsewhere by, among other things, inflating prices for 

products, including chipsets, that practice the GSM, GPRS, and EDGE standards.  Its failure to 

disclose its patents to ETSI has allowed Qualcomm unfairly and fraudulently to obtain, or claim 

to have obtained, a monopoly in markets for technology that is incorporated in the GSM, GPRS, 

and EDGE standards.  Through Qualcomm’s deceptive conduct, ETSI members were denied 

critical information for the development of and choice between competing technologies to be 

incorporated in these standards and Qualcomm was able unfairly and fraudulently to cause ETSI 

to adopt a standard incorporating technology that Qualcomm now claims reads on its patents.   

165. Qualcomm’s failure to disclose its patent rights to ETSI and its current refusal to offer 

licenses to its patents that comply with the ETSI requirements has allowed Qualcomm unfairly 

and fraudulently to obtain or demand monopoly rents and terms from parties practicing the 

GSM, GPRS, and EDGE standards.  Qualcomm deliberately violated the rules of the standard-

setting organization designed to prevent such exploitation by patent holders.   

166. Qualcomm has not offered Broadcom a license to practice the patents that Qualcomm 

claims are essential to GSM, GPRS, and/or EDGE in accordance with its commitments to ETSI. 

167. Instead, in willful disregard of its commitments to ETSI, Qualcomm has refused to offer 

licensing terms that are fair, reasonable, and nondiscriminatory, and has otherwise failed to offer 

terms that comport to the ETSI licensing requirements. 

168. Qualcomm has violated its licensing obligations by refusing to provide Broadcom with a 

license in accordance with the terms of ETSI’s IPR policy. 

169. Because UMTS chipsets must have backward compatibility with GSM, GPRS, and 

EDGE as previous GSM-path standards, Qualcomm’s conduct in GSM/GPRS/EDGE had the 
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additional effect of reinforcing the effects of Qualcomm’s conduct relating to UMTS chipsets.  

In other words, by wrongly asserting its patents as essential to the GSM, GPRS and EDGE 

standards, Qualcomm wrongly retarded the use of competitors’ UMTS chipsets, including (and 

especially) Broadcom’s. 

B. H.264 

170. H.264 is a standard for video compression.  It is also known as MPEG-4 Part 10, or 

Advanced Video Coding (“AVC”). 

171. The SDOs ISO and IEC are involved in setting standards for digital video compression.  

The Moving Pictures Expert Group (“MPEG”) is a joint subcommittee of the ISO and the IEC 

focused on the coding of audio, picture, and multimedia information. 

172. The ITU is also involved in setting standards for digital video compression.  The Video 

Coding Experts Group (“VCEG”) is a subdivision of the ITU focused on multimedia systems.   

173. In December 2001, the ITU, through VCEG, and the ISO/IEC, through MPEG, jointly 

founded the Joint Video Team (“JVT”). 

174. The goal of the JVT was to develop a video coding standard that would improve upon the 

compression and picture quality provided by prior video coding standards, such as H.263, 

MPEG-2, and MPEG-4, Part 2.   

175. The JVT also sought to develop a “royalty free ‘baseline’ profile .  .  .  in order to 

promote the wide implementation and use” of the H.264 standard. 

176. Members of MPEG and members of VCEG are permitted to participate in the activities 

of the JVT, including the JVT’s efforts to develop a new video compression standard. 

177. The JVT has a wide variety of industry participants, including Nokia, Panasonic, Sharp, 

Microsoft, LG Electronics, Canon, Motorola, Hitachi, Apple Computer, Intel, Philips, 

Qualcomm, and Broadcom.   
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178. The first version of the H.264 standard was released in May 2003, and a subsequent 

version of the H.264 standard was released in March 2005. 

179. The JVT’s work regarding the H.264 standard continues today. 

180. Qualcomm is a member of MPEG and therefore had the right to participate in the JVT. 

181. Qualcomm participated in the JVT’s development of the H.264 standard beginning at 

least as early as September 2002. 

182. Qualcomm’s participation included membership in JVT working groups, sponsorship of a 

JVT meeting, attendance and participation at JVT meetings, and submission of technical 

proposals to the JVT.  Qualcomm continues to participate in the JVT to the present day. 

183. As a result of its membership and participation in MPEG and the JVT, Qualcomm was 

and is bound by the JVT Terms of Reference, the JVT Internal Operating Rules, and the IPR 

disclosure policies of the ITU and the ISO/IEC. 

184. The JVT’s activities are governed by the Terms of Reference for Joint Video Team 

Activities (“JVT Terms of Reference”). 

185. The JVT’s Internal Operating Rules (Annex 3 of the JVT Terms of Reference) require 

that participants disclose “IPR Information (of their own or anyone else’s) associated with any 

standardization proposal (of their own or anyone else’s)” on a “best efforts basis.”  In addition, 

the Internal Operating Rules require submission of a “final IPR declaration” to the ITU and the 

ISO/IEC. 

186. The JVT Terms of Reference also provide that the IPR disclosure policies of both the 

ITU and the ISO/IEC are applicable to JVT participants.  Both the ITU and the ISO/IEC require 

participants in the standard-setting process to disclose any patents believed to be essential to the 

standard.   
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187. The ITU’s Patent Policy states: 

ITU-T [ITU Telecommunication Standardization Sector] 
Recommendations are non-binding international standards.  Their 
objective is to ensure compatibility of international 
telecommunications on a worldwide basis.  To meet this objective, 
which is in the common interests of all those participating in 
international telecommunications (network and service providers, 
suppliers and users), it must be ensured that Recommendations, 
their applications, use, etc. are accessible to everybody.  It follows, 
therefore, that a commercial (monopolistic) abuse by a holder of a 
patent embodied fully or partly in a Recommendation must be 
excluded.  To meet this requirement in general is the sole objective 
of the code of practice.  The detailed arrangements arising from 
patents (licensing, royalties, etc.) are being left to the parties 
concerned, as these arrangements might differ from case to case.   

188. The ITU’s Guidelines for Implementation of the ITU-T’s Patent Policy state: 

Any ITU Member State, Sector Member, or Associate aware of a 
patent or pending patent application held by itself or others, which 
may fully or partly cover elements of the draft Recommendation(s) 
proposed for approval, is requested to disclose such information to 
the TSB, in no case later than the date scheduled for approval of 
the Recommendation(s) in accordance with ITU-T Patent Policy.   

189. The ISO IPR Guidelines state: 

The originator of a proposal for a document shall draw the 
attention of the committee to any patent rights of which the 
originator is aware and considers to cover any item of the proposal.  
Any party involved in the preparation of a document shall draw the 
attention of the committee to any patent rights of which it becomes 
aware during any stage in the development of the document.   

190. The members of the JVT understood and treated the language of the JVT’s Internal 

Operating Rules, as well as the policies of the ITU and ISO/IEC, as imposing a disclosure duty.   

191. Qualcomm claims to own at least two patents, U.S. Patent No. 5,452,104 (the “‘104 

patent”) and U.S. Patent No. 5,576,767 (the “‘767 patent”), that it alleges are essential to practice 

H.264.   

192. The invention claimed in the ‘104 patent concerns the use of multiple discrete cosine 

transforms to compress data within an adaptive block size system.   
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193. The invention claimed in the ‘767 patent concerns a specific method of interframe video 

coding, meaning the compression of a frame of video data based on data present in another frame 

of video.   

194. Qualcomm does not currently design or sell any product that implements the inventions 

claimed in the ‘104 and ‘767 patents.   

195. Qualcomm did not disclose that it owned those or any other patents supposedly essential 

to practice H.264 to the JVT, the ITU, or the ISO/IEC until April 25, 2006.   

196. By virtue of its participation in the JVT, Qualcomm had an obligation earlier than April 

25, 2006, to disclose the patents that it now contends or has ever contended are essential to 

H.264.  Specifically, Qualcomm had an obligation to disclose the patents that it now contends or 

has ever contended are essential to H.264 before the aspects of H.264 to which those patents are 

purportedly essential were selected by the JVT.  Qualcomm failed to meet this obligation. 

197. Because Qualcomm failed to disclose its patents until many years after the JVT adopted 

the H.264 standard, the participants in the JVT standard-setting process were unable to consider 

the impact of Qualcomm’s alleged essential patent rights in formulating the standard.  This 

distorted the process by which the participants selected among alternative technologies to 

incorporate in the standard based on considerations of technical merit and intellectual property 

rights, and allowed Qualcomm unfairly and fraudulently to cause the JVT to adopt a standard 

incorporating technology that Qualcomm now claims reads on its patents. 

198. Qualcomm’s disclosure of patents purportedly essential to H.264 was untimely and in 

violation of the policies and practices of the JVT, the ITU, and the ISO/IEC.   

199. Qualcomm’s nondisclosure was deliberate and intentional.   
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200. Qualcomm asserted two of its patents as essential to the H.264 standard in an action 

against Broadcom filed on October 14, 2005, six months before it disclosed those patents to the 

JVT.   

201. Qualcomm’s action against Broadcom for infringement of the ‘104 and ‘767 patents was 

tried to a jury in January 2007 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of 

California.   

202. On January 26, 2007, after considering the evidence presented to it, the jury found that 

the accused Broadcom products did not infringe Qualcomm’s patents.  In addition, the jury 

issued an advisory verdict finding that Broadcom had proven by clear and convincing evidence 

that, by its conduct in connection with the JVT, Qualcomm had waived its right to enforce the 

two patents that it asserted against Broadcom.   

203. On March 22, 2007, the District Court issued an opinion affirming the jury’s advisory 

verdict that Broadcom had proven by clear and convincing evidence that Qualcomm, by its 

conduct in connection with the JVT, had waived its right to enforce the two patents that it had 

asserted against Broadcom.   

204. The District Court held that, under the principles set forth by the United States Court of 

Appeals for the Federal Circuit in Rambus, Inc. v. Infineon Technologies, AG, 318 F.3d 1081 

(Fed. Cir. 2003), there was clear and convincing evidence that JVT participants treated the JVT 

IPR policies as imposing a duty of disclosure regarding a participant’s IPR that may be 

reasonably essential to practice the H.264 standard.   

205. In discussing the goals of the IPR policies of the JVT, the District Court noted: 

The policy of the JVT Standards Study Committee was to draft a 
technical standard to optimize and maximize the excellence and 
compatibility of electronic structures to enable companies all over 
the world to produce high-quality video compression products with 
interchangeable properties so that mankind could enjoy the 



   
47 

 

technology to the utmost.  To this end, the JVT sought to minimize 
the impact on intellectual property and, where it could not be 
avoided, to facilitate a licensing pool system for sharing royalties 
for impacted inventions.  The participants in the JVT project 
shared the aims and policies of the JVT and considered themselves 
obligated to identify IPR owned or known by them, whether or not 
they made technical proposals for study. 

The non-disclosure of a participant’s core patents in such a 
program could put the participant in a position where it could 
literally block the use of the published H.264 standard by any 
company unless that company obtained a separate license from the 
participant.  

206. The District Court further held that there was clear and convincing evidence that the 

“‘104 and ‘767 patents reasonably may be essential to the practice of H.264 standard” and that 

Qualcomm had knowledge that the ‘104 patent and the ‘767 patent might be necessary to 

practice the H.264 standard “since at least 2002 and July 2005 respectively.” 

207. The District Court further held that “Broadcom has shown by clear and convincing 

evidence that Qualcomm participated in the work of the JVT, monitored it with at least four staff 

engineers, received its correspondence, knew of the area of study, filed at least five study 

proposals with required IPR forms attached, and knew about its own valuable IPR central to both 

the resulting H.264 standard versions published in 2003 and 2005 respectively.  Yet the ‘104 and 

‘767 patents were not revealed by Qualcomm before this lawsuit was filed against Broadcom in 

October 2005.” 

208. The District Court concluded that “on the basis of the law and the totality of 

circumstances herein, [the] Court finds by clear and convincing evidence that Qualcomm waived 

its right to enforce the ‘104 and ‘767 patents against H.264 products by its silence in the face of a 

‘clear duty to speak’ to identify to the JVT its IPR related to the development of the H.264 

standard.” 
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209. On August 6, 2007, the District Court issued an opinion setting forth the remedy for 

Qualcomm’s waiver of its right to enforce the ‘104 and ‘767 patents.  In this opinion, the District 

reaffirmed its findings that Qualcomm had intentionally failed to disclose its IPR to the JVT.  

The District Court found that “Qualcomm closely monitored and participated in the development 

of the H.264 standard, all the while concealing the existence of at least two patents it believed 

were likely to be essential to the practice of the standard, until after the development was 

completed and the standard was published.”  The District Court also held that “Qualcomm 

sought to unfairly benefit from having subverted the standards-making process of the JVT.” 

210. The District Court found “Qualcomm’s involvement [in the JVT] to be vigorous 

participation” and that Qualcomm’s “motive for participation” was “to insulate its IPR from the 

work of the JVT so as to preserve it for unilateral enforcement if that became possible after the 

H.264 standard was settled upon.” 

211. The District Court likewise found “that Qualcomm and its employees orchestrated a plan 

to ignore Qualcomm’s duty to disclose these patents [the ‘104 and ‘767 patents] to the JVT, in 

order to become an indispensable licensor of the H.264 standard.”  

212. In addition to Qualcomm’s misbehavior in the JVT, the District Court found that 

Qualcomm and its counsel engaged in “aggravated litigation abuse” and explained that its 

“finding as to Qualcomm’s wrongful conduct is further supported by evidence of widespread and 

undeniable misconduct of Qualcomm, its employees, and its witnesses throughout the present 

litigation, including during discovery, pre-trial motions practice, trial, and post-trial 

proceedings.” 
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213. Throughout discovery in the litigation, Broadcom repeatedly sought documents and 

testimony concerning Qualcomm’s participation in the JVT and Qualcomm’s nondisclosure of 

its allegedly essential patents. 

214. As fact discovery progressed, Qualcomm’s story regarding its role in the development of 

the H.264 standard changed numerous times as the facts and documents repeatedly undermined 

each of its theories. 

215. First, Qualcomm claimed that it was not a member of the JVT at all, that it had not 

participated in or sponsored any JVT meetings, and that it had never made a technical proposal 

to the JVT.  As the evidence presented by Broadcom at trial demonstrated, these assertions were 

not true. 

216. Second, Qualcomm claimed that, although it had participated in the JVT, such 

participation did not occur until December 2002, when the technical content of the H.264 

standard was purportedly “frozen.”  Again, this assertion proved untrue. 

217. Finally, on the eve of trial, Qualcomm advanced yet a third story, claiming that it had 

disclosed the ‘104 patent to one of the JVT’s parent organizations via letter dated June 8, 2001, 

to an “MPEG Test Sub-group” in response to a Call for Proposals for Digital Cinema.  As with 

Qualcomm’s other assertions, as the evidence developed by Broadcom demonstrated, this third 

story also proved untrue. 

218. During trial, based on its contention that no Qualcomm employees participated in the 

JVT prior to December 2002, Qualcomm sought to exclude from admission into evidence a JVT 

document containing a list of email subscribers to a JVT ad hoc working group (the so-called 

“JVT email reflector”), including a Qualcomm employee.  In an effort to exclude this document, 

Qualcomm insisted “there’s no evidence that any e-mail was actually sent to this list.”  
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219. On January 24, 2007, Qualcomm filed a Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law seeking 

to have the Court dismiss Broadcom’s waiver defense based, in part, on its assertion that 

“Broadcom has failed to show that . . . [any Qualcomm employee] ever received a single email 

related to this list [the JVT email reflector].” 

220. That same day, during cross-examination in open court of a Qualcomm employee, 

Broadcom discovered that, contrary to Qualcomm’s representations to the Court, Qualcomm 

possessed twenty-one emails that a Qualcomm employee had received from a JVT working 

group between September 27, 2002, and March 27, 2003.  These emails, which related to various 

aspects of the development of the H.264 standard, had never been disclosed or produced to 

Broadcom. 

221. On January 24, 2007, after Broadcom’s cross-examination of the Qualcomm employee 

and during the Court’s mid-day recess, Qualcomm produced to Broadcom the twenty-one emails 

received by the Qualcomm employee from the JVT working group during the seven-month 

period from September 2002 through March 2003. 

222. On January 29, 2007, several days after the jury had returned a verdict, Qualcomm, by 

letter to the Court, withdrew its statements during trial and in its Motion for Judgment as a 

Matter of Law asserting that no Qualcomm employee had received any emails from the JVT 

email reflector. 

223. Since the conclusion of the trial on January 26, 2007, Broadcom has made numerous 

attempts to obtain any additional documents concerning Qualcomm’s participation in the JVT 

that may be stored in the electronic archives of Qualcomm employees. 
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224. On April 6, 2007, Qualcomm informed Broadcom that Qualcomm had identified a 

substantial volume of documents that were responsive to Broadcom’s requests for any additional 

documents concerning Qualcomm’s participation in the JVT.   

225. On April 9, 2007, counsel for Qualcomm informed that Court that Qualcomm would 

produce a “substantial number of electronic documents” concerning Qualcomm’s participation in 

the JVT.  Counsel for Qualcomm further informed the Court that “these documents [have] 

revealed facts that appear to be inconsistent with certain arguments that [Qualcomm] made . . . 

[during] trial and in the equitable hearing following trial.” 

226. The same day, Louis Lupin, Qualcomm’s Executive Vice President and General Counsel, 

sent a letter to the Court to “personally convey, on behalf of QUALCOMM Incorporated and the 

QUALCOMM legal department in particular, [his] regret and apologies regarding the 

circumstances” surrounding Qualcomm’s failure to produce the substantial number of electronic 

documents concerning Qualcomm’s participation in the JVT.   

227. Four months after trial, Qualcomm eventually produced over two hundred thousand 

pages of documents related to the JVT and the H.264 standard.  The District Court in its August 

7, 2007 opinion described these documents as “clearly within the scope of [Broadcom’s 

discovery] requests.”  The Court found that these late-produced documents “fully bolstered 

Broadcom’s waiver arguments and completely refuted Qualcomm’s waiver defenses at trial.” 

228.  The District Court found that “Qualcomm counsel participated in an organized program 

of litigation misconduct and concealment throughout discovery, trial, and post-trial.”  In light of 

this misconduct and Qualcomm’s intentional refusal to disclose its patents to the JVT, the 

District Court concluded: 

[i]n light of all of the above evidence finally revealed, the eventual 
collapse of Qualcomm’s concealment efforts exposes the carefully 
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orchestrated plan and the deadly determination of Qualcomm to 
achieve its goal of holding hostage the entire industry desiring to 
practice the H.264 standard by insulating its IPR from the JVT so 
that the JVT would lose the opportunity to mitigate, if not avoid, 
Qualcomm’s IPR in the development of the H.264 standard.   
 

229. Qualcomm’s nondisclosure and refusal to offer FRAND licenses has harmed Broadcom 

and competition. 

230. Between December 2002 and April 25, 2006, the JVT made numerous decisions about 

the content of the H.264 standard.  Qualcomm employees participated in those decisions.   

231. One of the factors that JVT members considered in developing the technical content of 

the H.264 standard was the quantity, nature, scope, and ownership of IPR disclosed by JVT 

participants.   

232. Broadcom is a member of the JVT, and, like other participants in the JVT and others 

seeking to practice the H.264 standard, reasonably relies on JVT participants having complied 

with the rules and regulations of the JVT, the ITU, and the ISO/IEC, including the intellectual 

property rights disclosure policies of those organizations.   

233. Broadcom develops, markets, and sells microchips, chipsets, and software that can 

perform video encoding and/or decoding in conformance with the H.264 standard.   

234. After December 2002, Broadcom made substantial investments to develop and market 

H.264 products, including the acquisition of Sand Video, Inc., in April 2004, and Alphamosaic, 

Ltd., in September 2004.   

235. Following the April 2004 acquisition of Sand Video, Inc. and the September 2004 

acquisition of Alphamosaic, Ltd., Broadcom introduced its first H.264-compliant chips into the 

U.S. market.   



   
53 

 

236. Broadcom continues today to develop, market, and sell microchips, chipsets, and 

software for devices complying with the H.264 standard.   

237. Qualcomm has asserted to companies, including Broadcom and its customers, that 

products implementing the H.264 standard require a license to Qualcomm’s purportedly essential 

patents.   

238. Qualcomm has also asserted to companies, including Broadcom and its customers, that 

Broadcom does not have a license from Qualcomm to implement the H.264 standard.   

239. Qualcomm’s claims that Broadcom requires a license to Qualcomm’s H.264 patents have 

injured and continue to injure Broadcom, including by interfering with Broadcom’s ability to 

make sales and reducing Broadcom’s profits.   

240. Qualcomm’s refusal to honor its commitments to the JVT, the ITU, and the ISO/IEC to 

disclose and license its essential IPR on FRAND terms has injured and continues to injure 

Broadcom, including by interfering with Broadcom’s ability to develop and market 

semiconductors for H.264-compliant devices.   

241. Qualcomm’s failure to disclose its patents to the JVT, the ITU, and the ISO/IEC and its 

current refusal to offer FRAND licenses to its patents has also injured competition by allowing 

Qualcomm to obtain or seek to obtain monopoly rents and terms from parties practicing the 

H.264 standard, when Qualcomm deliberately violated the rules of the standard-setting 

organization designed to prevent such exploitation by patent holders.   

242. Qualcomm’s misconduct has threatened and continues to threaten to injure competition 

and consumers throughout the United States and around the world.   

243. Qualcomm’s failure to disclose its patents to the JVT, the ITU, and the ISO/IEC has 

allowed Qualcomm unfairly and fraudulently to obtain, or claim to have obtained, a monopoly in 
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the aspects of the H.264 technology markets governed by each element of the standard that 

Qualcomm claims is covered by its patents.  Through Qualcomm’s deceptive conduct, JVT 

participants were denied critical information for the development of H.264.  Qualcomm’s failure 

to disclose its patents to the JVT, the ITU, and the ISO/IEC has allowed Qualcomm unfairly and 

fraudulently to obtain, or claim to have obtained, a monopoly in markets for functionality that is 

incorporated in the H.264 standard.  Through Qualcomm’s deceptive conduct, JVT members 

were denied critical information for the development of and choice between competing 

technologies to be incorporated in these standards, and Qualcomm was able unfairly and 

fraudulently to cause the JVT to adopt standards incorporating technology that Qualcomm now 

claims reads on its patents. 

244. In its April 25, 2006, disclosure to the JVT, Qualcomm committed “to grant a license to 

an unrestricted number of applicants on a worldwide, non-discriminatory basis and on reasonable 

terms and conditions to make, use and sell implementations of” H.264.   

245. Without conceding that products implementing the H.264 standard infringe Qualcomm’s 

purportedly essential patents, Broadcom requested the terms of a license to practice those 

patents.   

246. In willful disregard of its commitments to the JVT, the ITU, and the ISO/IEC, Qualcomm 

offered terms that were unfair, unreasonable, and discriminatory.  For example, Qualcomm has 

insisted on royalty rates that are substantially in excess of industry norms and refused to provide 

Broadcom with a license that exhausts Qualcomm’s patent rights.   

C. IEEE 802.20 

247. IEEE 802.20 is a standard currently under development for packet-based air interface for 

Internet Protocol (IP) services.  IEEE 802.20 is sometimes referred to as a 4G wireless standard. 
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248. The IEEE 802.20 working group is the body that is developing that standard.  The IEEE 

802.20 working group is also known as the Mobile Broadband Wireless Access Working Group. 

249. The Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (“IEEE”) approved the 

establishment of the IEEE 802.20 working group in December 2002.   

250. The IEEE 802.20 working group endeavored continuously to develop the IEEE 802.20 

standard until its operations were suspended in June 2006.   

251. The IEEE 802.20 working group is governed by the IEEE Project 802 Policies and 

Procedures, the IEEE 802.20 Operating Rules, and the Policies and Procedures of IEEE Project 

802, Working Group 802.20.  In addition, the Policies and Procedures of IEEE Project 802, 

Working Group 802.20 mandate that the ANSI rules for identification of affiliation apply to 

IEEE 802.20 working group activities.   

252. The IEEE Project 802 Policies and Procedures prohibit “dominance” of a working group 

by a single organization or committee.   

253. In addition, the Policies and Procedures of IEEE Project 802, Working Group 802.20 and 

the ANSI rules require that participants provide “[t]imely and adequate notice” of “all known 

directly and materially affected interest” including the “affiliation” of each member.  

“Affiliation” refers to the “entity that the [participant] represents (which may or may not be that 

person’s employer).”  

254. Qualcomm employees and agents participated in and were members of the IEEE 802.20 

working group. 

255. Broadcom employees and agents also participated in and were members of the IEEE 

802.20 working group.   
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256. Qualcomm’s employees and agents were acting on behalf of Qualcomm, and in concert 

with it, in their participation in the 802.20 working group, and not in their individual capacity. 

257. Qualcomm and its employees and agents attempted to steer the IEEE 802.20 working 

group toward adopting Qualcomm technology for the IEEE 802.20 standard.   

258. The 802.20 working group, however, had been moving toward adopting a competing 

technology – Flash-OFDM – developed by Flarion Technologies, Inc. (“Flarion”). 

259. Throughout the summer of 2005, Flarion and other members of the 802.20 working 

group sought the rapid standardization of Flarion’s Flash-OFDM technology.   

260. Qualcomm took several improper steps to prevent the 802.20 working group from 

adopting Flarion’s Flash-OFDM technology in an attempt to unfairly influence the IEEE 802.20 

working group to adopt Qualcomm’s technology instead of Flarion’s technology.   

261. Qualcomm engaged in multiple acts of misconduct.  First, Qualcomm improperly sent as 

many as twenty employees and consultants as representatives to cast multiple votes on its behalf 

and in opposition to Flarion’s proposed technology at IEEE 802.20 working group meetings.  

Many of these representatives failed to disclose their financial relationships with Qualcomm.   

262. Second, Qualcomm paid Jerry Upton, the chairman of the IEEE 802.20 working group, 

as an “independent consultant.”  Neither Qualcomm nor Mr. Upton timely disclosed this 

financial relationship to the IEEE 802.20 working group. 

263. Finally, in August 2005, Qualcomm announced its intention to acquire Flarion – the 

proponent of the competing technology Qualcomm had originally opposed because it competed 

with Qualcomm’s technology.  Qualcomm closed on its acquisition of Flarion in January 2006. 

264. Even before Qualcomm closed the Flarion acquisition, it illegally began to control 

Flarion’s operations.  The Department of Justice brought an action against Qualcomm for 
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violation of the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act, which the parties resolved through a settlement involving 

Qualcomm paying $1.8 million in penalties for its illegal conduct. 

265. As a result of Qualcomm’s deceptive conduct and violations of IEEE rules, the IEEE 

suspended the IEEE 802.20 working group on June 8, 2006.  Among the reasons for the 

suspension was Qualcomm’s improper “dominance” of the working group and, as a result of the 

failure of the Qualcomm agents to declare their affiliation, a “lack of transparency.”  

Specifically, the IEEE Standards Board Chair reported that: 

The decision to suspend 802.20 was made primarily for two 
reasons.  First, the Working Group has been the subject of several 
appeals from the very beginning of the group, with three appeals 
now pending at one level or another, and recent activity in the 
group appears to have become highly contentious – significantly 
beyond what is normally experienced in IEEE-SA.  Second, a 
preliminary investigation into the group’s operation revealed a lack 
of transparency, possible “dominance,” and other irregularities in 
the Working Group.   

266. The suspension of a working group was an unprecedented step by the IEEE, and has 

delayed the adoption of an industry standard.   

267. Broadcom invested significant time and resources in attending 802.20 related meetings 

and had planned and intended to develop products for 802.20 applications compliant with the 

802.20 standard once adopted.   

268. Qualcomm’s manipulation of the standards-setting process wasted Broadcom’s 

investment of time and resources and has prevented Broadcom from developing products 

compliant with the 802.20 standard.  Had Qualcomm not manipulated the standard-setting 

process, the IEEE would have developed the 802.20 standard, demand would have developed for 

802.20 standard compliant products, and Broadcom would have been able successfully to 

develop and bring to market products to satisfy that demand. 
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D. CDMA 2000 EVDV 

269. Another example of Qualcomm’s efforts improperly to manipulate SDOs is Qualcomm’s 

conduct to ensure that the 3G CDMA standard has taken the form Qualcomm prefers. 

270. In the course of discussions within 3GPP2 about the path for 3G development of CDMA, 

Qualcomm advocated adoption of Qualcomm’s preferred “High Data Rate (HDR)” technology, 

which later became known as CDMA2000-1xEVDO (or “Single Carrier Evolution, Data Only”) 

(“EVDO”).  Qualcomm competitors supported a more flexible technology eventually known as 

CDMA2000-1xEVDV (or “Single Carrier Evolution, Data and Voice”) (“EVDV”), that provides 

both voice and data signals over a single carrier frequency.  Qualcomm undertook a course of 

conduct designed to cause 3GPP2 to adopt the EVDO standard that Qualcomm preferred, and to 

stall the development and adoption of EVDV.  In doing so, Qualcomm intended to protect its 

technological and market lead in EVDO technology, and to avoid competition on the merits 

between EVDO and the more advanced EVDV. 

271. As with the other SDOs relevant to this action, the membership of 3GPP2 includes not 

only owners of patents relevant to prospective standards and prospective manufacturers of the 

cell phones implementing new standards, but also the manufacturer customers for chipsets.  

Qualcomm’s dominant position in current CDMA chipset sales, as well as its control over vital 

inputs for CDMA chipsets and cell phones, gives it tremendous leverage over many such 

members of 3GPP2.  In part through the use of this leverage, Qualcomm was able to delay the 

standardization of EVDV, enabling Qualcomm’s EVDO technology to maintain Qualcomm’s 

CDMA chipset dominance. 

272. Among other things, Qualcomm delayed and distorted the standards competition between 

EVDO and EVDV by using Qualcomm’s power over cell phone manufacturers and others to 

induce them to withhold or withdraw support from technical proposals embracing EVDV (or the 
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technology from which EVDV evolved).  Qualcomm threatened 3GPP2 members with CDMA 

chipset price increases or supply cutbacks so that the members would support Qualcomm’s 

desired outcomes.  Qualcomm’s threats, which were effective because of manufacturers’ 

overriding concerns with short-term competition with other cell phone manufacturers, had their 

intended effect:  manufacturer members that supported alternative technologies abruptly changed 

their positions.   In addition, Qualcomm promoted a detailed testing and measurement 

methodology for EVDV which Qualcomm represented would take six months to complete but, 

due to Qualcomm’s delaying tactics, lasted over two years. 

273. After the EVDV standard was finally approved, Qualcomm continued its attempt to delay 

and thwart the development of that standard to maintain its CDMA chipset dominance.  For 

example, Qualcomm withheld supplies of CDMA chipsets from at least one customer in an 

attempt to induce the customer to abandon the EVDV standard. 

274. In February 2005, Qualcomm declared victory in its campaign to delay and kill EVDV by 

announcing that Qualcomm was excluding EVDV chipsets from its future product plans.  

Qualcomm cited a lack of industry support for EVDV, for which Qualcomm’s unlawful conduct 

was responsible. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 
 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Monopolization of the WCDMA Technology Markets 
in Violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act 

 
275. Plaintiff Broadcom repeats and realleges all of the allegations in all the paragraphs above 

as if set forth fully herein. 

276. By such acts, practices, and conduct, Qualcomm has unlawfully monopolized the 

WCDMA technology markets by inducing the relevant SDOs to adopt 3G standards that 
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incorporate Qualcomm’s patents as an essential element, relying on Qualcomm’s promise to 

observe FRAND licensing and the relevant SDO IPR disclosure policies, and then not acting in 

accordance with those promises, all in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2. 

277. Qualcomm has likewise maintained that monopoly through its licensing and other 

practices described herein. 

278. By reason of Qualcomm’s violations of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, Broadcom has 

been injured in its business or property including through the loss of past, present and future 

profits, by the loss of customers and potential customers, by the loss of goodwill and product 

image, and by the prospective destruction of its UMTS chipset business. 

279. Broadcom has suffered irreparable injury by reason of the acts, practices and conduct of 

Qualcomm alleged above, and will continue to suffer such injury until and unless the Court 

enjoins such acts, practices and conduct. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Attempted Monopolization of the UMTS Chipset Market 
in Violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act 

 
280. Plaintiff Broadcom repeats and realleges all of the allegations in all the paragraphs above 

as if set forth fully herein. 

281. The global UMTS chipset market is a relevant antitrust market.  Qualcomm has willfully 

engaged, and is illegally engaging, in a cumulative course of conduct, including without 

limitation: (i) refusing to abide by FRAND licensing commitments made to SDOs in the United 

States and other countries, after having induced those organizations to adopt technological 

standards necessitating the use of Qualcomm WCDMA patents that Qualcomm has described as 

essential; (ii) refusing to provide to Broadcom a license on FRAND terms to Qualcomm patents 

that Qualcomm has stated are essential to UMTS chipsets and cell phones, and demanding that 
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Broadcom agree to unfair, discriminatory, and patently unreasonable terms that are aimed to 

cripple Broadcom as a UMTS chipset competitor; (iii) by failing timely to disclose its 

purportedly essential IPR to SDOs, which IPR SDOs purportedly incorporated as essential to the 

UMTS standard; (iv) providing discounts on the excessive royalties it charges cell phone 

manufacturers for use of its patents only if a licensee purchases Qualcomm chipsets; (v) 

providing cell phone manufacturers with multi-million dollar marketing funds and/or other 

incentives, conditioned on the use of Qualcomm’s UMTS chipsets; (vi) waiving upfront 

licensing fees for its intellectual property, conditioned on the use of Qualcomm’s UMTS 

chipsets; and (vii) using threats regarding 2G and 3G CDMA chipset supply and pricing to 

coerce cell phone manufacturers into purchasing Qualcomm’s UMTS chipsets.  These practices 

have no legitimate business justification.  

282. Qualcomm has undertaken this course of conduct with the specific intent of 

monopolizing the UMTS chipset market.  There is a dangerous probability that, unless 

restrained, Qualcomm’s course of conduct will succeed, in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman 

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2.   

283. By reason of Qualcomm’s violations of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, Broadcom has 

been injured in its business or property including through the loss of past, present and future 

profits, by the loss of customers and potential customers, by the loss of goodwill and product 

image, and by the prospective destruction of its UMTS chipset business. 

284. Broadcom has suffered irreparable injury by reason of the acts, practices and conduct of 

Qualcomm alleged above, and will continue to suffer such injury until and unless the Court 

enjoins such acts, practices and conduct. 
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THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Monopolization of GSM, GPRS, and EDGE Technology Markets 
in Violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act 

 
285. Plaintiff Broadcom repeats and realleges all of the allegations in all the paragraphs above 

as if set forth fully herein. 

286. By such acts, practices, and conduct, Qualcomm has unlawfully monopolized the markets 

for providing the functionality that its purportedly essential GSM, GPRS, and EDGE IPR covers 

by failing to disclose timely its purportedly essential IPR to ETSI, which IPR ETSI purportedly 

incorporated in the GSM, GPRS, and EDGE standards as an essential element, in violation of 

Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2. 

287. By reason of Qualcomm’s violations of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, Broadcom has 

been injured in its business or property including through the loss of past, present and future 

profits, by the loss of customers and potential customers, by the loss of goodwill and product 

image, and by the prospective destruction of its GSM/GPRS/EDGE chipset business. 

288. Broadcom has suffered irreparable injury by reason of the acts, practices and conduct of 

Qualcomm alleged above, and will continue to suffer such injury until and unless the Court 

enjoins such acts, practices and conduct. 

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Breach of Contract 
 

289. Plaintiff Broadcom repeats and realleges all of the allegations in all the paragraphs above 

as if set forth fully herein. 

290. As set forth above, Qualcomm entered into actual or implied contractual commitments 

with ETSI, the ITU, ATIS, ARIB, ISO/IEC, and the JVT, relating to the GSM, GPRS, EDGE, 

UMTS, and H.264 standards. 
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291. Each participant in the standard-setting process for each of these standards – including 

Broadcom – was an intended beneficiary of those contracts.  Each potential third party 

implementing each of the standards – including Broadcom – was also an intended beneficiary of 

those contracts.   

292. Qualcomm breached those contracts by failing to timely disclose the IPR that it now 

claims is essential, in accordance with the IPR disclosure policies, procedures, and practices of 

the SDOs.   

293. Qualcomm again breached those contracts by failing to offer to license the IPR that it 

now claims is essential in accordance with its FRAND commitments.   

294. In addition, Qualcomm breached its contractual commitments with ANSI and the IEEE 

related to disclosure of financial relationships with committee members in the IEEE 802.20 

working group.   

295. As a result of those multiple acts of breach, Broadcom has been injured in its business or 

property through the loss of past, present, and future profits, by the loss of customers and 

potential customers, and by the loss of goodwill and product image.  In addition, Broadcom 

sustained damages, including the cost of attending 802.20 meetings and lost business 

opportunities, as a result of Qualcomm’s improper influence over the IEEE 802.20 working 

group. 

296. Broadcom has suffered and continues to suffer actual damages as a result of Qualcomm’s 

actions. 
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FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Tortious Interference With Prospective Economic Advantage 

297. Plaintiff Broadcom repeats and realleges all of the allegations in all the paragraphs above 

as if set forth fully herein. 

298. Qualcomm has undertaken a willful and malicious course of conduct to foreclose 

Broadcom from various commercial opportunities in chipsets that implement the GSM, GPRS, 

EDGE, UMTS, and H.264 standards.   

299. Broadcom had a prospective economic relationship with manufacturers of devices that 

use such chipsets.   

300. But for Qualcomm’s conduct, there was a reasonable probability that Broadcom would 

have been able to secure business relationships for the sale of such chipsets.  Qualcomm 

intentionally interfered with and frustrated Broadcom’s efforts to do so.  Qualcomm has done so 

without legitimate justification or excuse.  In sum, Qualcomm has committed multiple acts of 

tortious interference with Broadcom’s prospective economic advantage. 

301. By reason of Qualcomm’s actions, Broadcom has been injured in its business or property 

including through the loss of past, present and future profits, by the loss of customers and 

potential customers, and by the loss of goodwill and product image.  Broadcom has been injured 

and suffered damages in an amount to be proved at trial and, without injunctive relief, Broadcom 

will continue to suffer irreparable injury as a result of Qualcomm’s unlawful conduct.  Broadcom 

has no adequate remedy at law.  Broadcom is also entitled to punitive damages for Qualcomm’s 

willful and malicious conduct. 
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SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Promissory Estoppel 
 

302. Plaintiff Broadcom repeats and realleges all of the allegations in all the paragraphs above 

as if set forth fully herein. 

303. Qualcomm made a clear and definite promise to potential licensees of its declared 

essential technology through its promise to various SDOs that it would disclose relevant IPR, 

including potentially essential patents and would license its essential IPR, including patents, on 

FRAND terms.   

304. The intended purpose of Qualcomm’s promises was to induce reliance.  Qualcomm knew 

or should have reasonably expected that this promise would induce potential licensees such as 

Broadcom to take (or refrain from taking) certain actions. 

305. Broadcom did take action to orient various aspects of its chipset business in reliance on 

Qualcomm’s promises, as described above. 

306. Broadcom has been harmed as a result of its reasonable reliance on Qualcomm’s 

promises because of Qualcomm’s failure to disclose and its failure to license its technology on 

FRAND terms as it had promised. 

307. Qualcomm is estopped from reneging on these promises to the various SDOs under the 

doctrine of promissory estoppel. 

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Fraud 
 

308. Plaintiff Broadcom repeats and realleges all of the allegations in all the paragraphs above 

as if set forth fully herein. 
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309. Qualcomm intentionally failed to disclose its patents with ETSI, the ITU, ATIS, ARIB, 

ISO/IEC, and the JVT, and intentionally failed to disclose its financial relationship with 

members of the IEEE 802.20 working group, as alleged with particularity above.   

310. Qualcomm had a duty to disclose its patents and its financial relationships with 

committee members to the relevant SDOs and intentionally failed to do so. 

311. In addition, Qualcomm represented to the SDOs and to the public that if its patented 

technology were incorporated into the various standards, it would license that technology to all 

practitioners of the standard on FRAND terms. 

312. Qualcomm made the foregoing representations knowing them to be false in that it had no 

intent to license on FRAND terms and with the intent to induce reliance on its representations.  

Qualcomm did not disclose to the SDOs that it had no intention of licensing its technology on 

FRAND terms. 

313. Broadcom reasonably and justifiably relied on the standard-setting processes to be fair, in 

accordance with the rules, policies, and procedures of those organizations.  Broadcom reasonably 

and justifiably relied on Qualcomm fulfilling its obligations, including its obligations pursuant to 

the applicable IPR disclosure policies.  Broadcom had the right to expect that Qualcomm would 

abide by its obligations to timely disclose any essential IPR and financial relationships and to 

abide by its FRAND commitments.   

314. Qualcomm engaged in each of these acts deliberately, willfully, intentionally, and in bad 

faith, with the intent to deceive the SDOs and their members, so that the SDOs and their 

members would adopt Qualcomm IPR into standards.   

315. Broadcom sustained damages as a result of Qualcomm’s failure to disclose its 

purportedly essential patents, Qualcomm’s subsequent refusal to license those patents on 
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FRAND terms, and Qualcomm’s failure to disclose financial relationships relating to the 802.20 

working group. 

316. By the actions described above, Qualcomm has committed multiple acts of fraud.   

317. The acts and conduct of Qualcomm alleged hereinabove constituted intentional 

misrepresentation or concealment of material facts known to Qualcomm and were in conscious 

disregard of Broadcom’s rights, were malicious, willful, fraudulent and oppressive, and were 

done with the intention of causing injury to Broadcom, so as to justify an award of exemplary 

and punitive damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
 

Violations of Section 17200 of the California Business and Professions Code 
 

318. Plaintiff Broadcom repeats and realleges all of the allegations in all the paragraphs above 

as if set forth fully herein. 

319. By the acts alleged, Defendants have engaged in unfair competition within the meaning 

of Section 17200 of the California Business and Professions Code.   

320. Specifically, Qualcomm’s conduct in connection with ETSI, the ITU, ATIS, ARIB, 

ANSI, ISO/IEC, and the JVT, and the IEEE 802.20 working group and its claim of ownership of 

intellectual property rights in the GSM, GPRS, EDGE, UMTS, and H.264 standards constitute: 

(1) unlawful business acts or practices; (2) unfair business acts or practices, including unfair 

business practices violating the policy or spirit of the antitrust laws, and otherwise significantly 

threatening and harming competition in California and elsewhere; and (3) fraudulent business 

acts or practices.  

321. Qualcomm committed unlawful business acts or practices by breaching the contracts 

described above. 
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322. Qualcomm committed unfair and deceptive business acts or practices by failing to 

disclose purported intellectual property rights in violation of the IPR disclosure obligations, then 

claiming during licensing discussions with Broadcom and/or Broadcom’s customers that it 

owned patents essential to the GSM, GPRS, EDGE, UMTS, and H.264 standards.  In addition, 

Qualcomm committed unfair business acts or practices by failing to offer a license to its IPR on 

FRAND terms.  Qualcomm also committed unfair business acts or practices in its conduct before 

the IEEE 802.20 working group, by attempting improperly to influence the technical content of 

the IEEE 802.20 standard.  Qualcomm’s repeated nondisclosure before multiple SDOs, and in 

connection with multiple standards, constitutes a pattern of unfair business practices.  Each of 

these acts and practices is unfair in the circumstances when the effect of the act or practice on 

Broadcom is balanced against Qualcomm’s reasons, justifications, and motives. 

323. The acts complained of above violate and threaten to violate the policy or spirit of the 

antitrust laws, and otherwise significantly threaten and/or harm competition.  The global 

Qualcomm GSM, GPRS, EDGE, UMTS, and H.264 technology markets are relevant antitrust 

markets, as described above.  By the deceptive acts, practices, and conduct alleged above, 

Qualcomm has monopolized or, in the alternative, is attempting with specific intent to 

monopolize each of those markets by inducing the relevant SDOs to adopt standards that 

incorporate technologies that read on Qualcomm’s purportedly essential patents, but failing to 

disclose those patents, in violation of the SDOs’ IPR disclosure policies, and refusing to offer 

licenses to its patents on FRAND terms and in violation of its commitments to the SDOs. 

324. Qualcomm’s nondisclosure of its patents, and its attempts to improperly influence the 

IEEE 802.20 working group, as alleged with particularity above, also constitute fraudulent 

business acts or practices.  Qualcomm had a duty to disclose its patents and its financial 
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relationships with committee members to the relevant SDOs.  Qualcomm deliberately and 

intentionally breached this duty by concealing information from the SDOs in violation of its 

obligations under the SDOs’ disclosure policies.  Specifically, Qualcomm failed to timely 

disclose its purportedly essential GSM, GPRS, EDGE, and UMTS patents, failed to timely 

disclose its purportedly essential H.264 patents, and failed to timely disclose its financial 

relationships with committee members to the 802.20 working group.  Qualcomm engaged in 

each of these acts deliberately and with the intent to deceive the SDOs, so that the SDOs would 

unknowingly adopt Qualcomm IPR into standards.  In addition, although Qualcomm committed 

to license its declared essential patents on FRAND terms, as described above, it has not done so 

and its commitment to do so was deceptive and fraudulent. 

325. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of Qualcomm’s wrongful conduct, as 

alleged above, Broadcom has suffered harm, including the inclusion of undisclosed IPR in the 

standards, the unavailability of FRAND licenses despite Qualcomm’s assurance that it would 

offer such FRAND licenses, a reduction in Broadcom’s ability to make sales of standards-

compliant products, a reduction in Broadcom’s profits, and a diminution of Broadcom’s ability 

to develop and market semiconductors for GSM, GPRS, EDGE, UMTS, H.264, and 802.20-

compliant products.   

326. As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of Qualcomm’s wrongful conduct, as 

alleged above, competition in markets for various functionalities in the GSM, GPRS, EDGE, 

UMTS, H.264, and 802.20 standards as well as in markets for products that practice those 

standards has been injured, thereby causing harm to consumers in California and elsewhere.   

327. By reason of Qualcomm’s violations of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, et seq., 

Broadcom has been injured in its business and property including through the loss of past, 
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present, and future profits, by the loss of customers and potential customers, and by the loss of 

goodwill and product image. 

328. Broadcom has suffered irreparable injury by reason of the acts, practices, and conduct of 

Qualcomm alleged above and will continue to suffer such injury until and unless the Court 

enjoins such acts, practices, and conduct.  Broadcom is informed and believes that Qualcomm 

will continue to do the acts alleged herein unless the Court orders Qualcomm to cease and desist.   

329. Broadcom is entitled to relief, including an injunction and full restitution and/or 

disgorgement of all revenues, earnings, profits, compensation, and benefits that may have been 

obtained by Qualcomm from Broadcom, its actual customers, and its potential customers as a 

result of such unfair business acts or practices.   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff Broadcom requests that the Court: 
 

A. Adjudge and decree that Qualcomm has violated Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 

15 U.S.C. § 2; and that Qualcomm has tortiously interfered with Broadcom’s prospective 

economic advantage; that Qualcomm’s conduct constitutes breach of contract, promissory 

estoppel, and fraud; and that Qualcomm has violated Section 17200 of the California Business 

and Professions Code; 

B. On Broadcom’s First through Third claims for relief, enter judgment against 

Qualcomm for treble the amount of Broadcom’s damages as proven at trial in accordance with 

Section 4 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 15;  

C. On plaintiff Broadcom’s Fourth through Seventh claims for relief, enter judgment 

against Qualcomm for the amount of Broadcom damages as proven at trial and, on Broadcom’s 

Fifth and Seventh claims for relief, for punitive damages; 
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D. Enjoin Qualcomm’s continuing violations of law by (a) barring Qualcomm from 

asserting the patents and other IPR that it has claimed are essential to practice the UMTS, GSM, 

GPRS, EDGE, and H.264 standards against parties manufacturing or selling products compliant 

with those standards and standards that evolve from those standards; or (b) requiring Qualcomm 

to grant Broadcom a license to those patents and other IPR on FRAND terms; 

E. Enter further equitable relief as necessary or appropriate, including full restitution 

to Broadcom and/or disgorgement of all revenues, earnings, profits, compensation, and benefits 

that may have been obtained by Qualcomm from Broadcom, its actual customers, and its 

potential customers as a result of such unfair business acts or practices.; 

 F. Award plaintiff Broadcom its costs and expenses of litigation, including 

attorneys’ fees and expert witness fees; and 

 G. Enter judgment against Qualcomm for such other and further relief as the Court 

deems just and proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff Broadcom Corporation hereby demands trial by jury in this action on all issues 

so triable. 

Dated: November 2, 2007    Respectfully submitted, 

 
         s/ Robert A. Magnanini 

David S. Stone, Esq.  
Robert A. Magnanini, Esq. 
Boies, Schiller & Flexner LLP 
150 John F. Kennedy Parkway 
Short Hills, NJ 07078 
(973) 218-1111 
Fax: (973) 218-1106 
Counsel for Plaintiff 
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Of counsel: 
 
David Boies  
David A. Barrett 
Steven C. Holtzman 
Scott E. Gant 
W. Fred Norton 
Kieran P. Ringgenberg 
Boies, Schiller & Flexner LLP 
570 Lexington Avenue 
New York, NY 10022 
(212) 446-2300 
Fax: (212) 446-2350 

 
 
George S. Cary  
Mark W. Nelson 
Steven J. Kaiser  
Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton LLP 
2000 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20006 
(202) 974-1500 
Fax: (202) 974-1999 

 


